A STUDY ON CHARACTERIZATION AND DETECTION OF QUANTUM ENTANGLEMENT

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy(Sc.) in Applied Mathematics by NIRMAN GANGULY

Department of Applied Mathematics University of Calcutta 2014 To my parents and teachers

All knowledge that the world has ever received comes from the mind; the infinite library of the universe is in our own mind.

Swami Vivekananda

Contents

C	onter	\mathbf{nts}					i
Li	st of	Figure	es				iv
A	cknov	wledge	ements				\mathbf{v}
A	bstra	.ct					vii
1	Intr	oducti	ion and Outline				1
	1.1	Plan c	of the thesis	•	•	•	3
2	Mat	themat	tical and Physical prerequisites				5
	2.1	Mathe	ematical preliminaries	•	•		5
		2.1.1	Linear Independence and basis vectors	•			6
		2.1.2	Linear Operators and Matrices				7
		2.1.3	Inner Product and Norm	•			7
		2.1.4	Normal , Unitary and Hermitian operators				8
		2.1.5	Convex sets				8
	2.2	Qubits	s and Bloch Sphere	•			9
	2.3	Densit	y Matrix				10
	2.4	Pauli	matrices				11
	2.5	Schmi	dt decomposition and Schmidt number				11
	2.6	Entan	glement				12
		2.6.1	Bipartite Entanglement				12
		2.6.2	Entanglement of three qubits	•			13

		2.6.3 Bound Entanglement	14			
		2.6.4 Different detection methods	15			
	2.7	'Entanglement Witnesses				
		2.7.1 Definition	17			
		2.7.2 Different methods of construction of Entanglement Wit-				
		nesses	18			
		2.7.3 Relation between Entanglement witnesses and Positive				
		maps	20			
	2.8	Bell's Inequality	20			
	2.9	States which are separable from spectrum	21			
	2.10	Entanglement Measures	22			
	2.11	Quantum Teleportation	23			
	2.12	Summary	26			
3	Enta	anglement Witness Operator for edge states	27			
	3.1	Prelude	27			
	3.2	A few definitions and results	29			
	3.3	Revisiting non-decomposable witnesses	29			
	3.4	Construction of the witness and its experimental realization .	32			
	3.5	Detection and Comparative analysis	38			
	3.6	Examples	39			
	3.7	Summary	42			
4	Con	nmon Entanglement Witnesses	44			
	4.1	Prelude	44			
	4.2	Common Schmidt number witness	46			
	4.3	Methods to construct common entanglement witness	47			
	4.4	Examples from Qutrit systems	49			
	4.5	Common decomposable and non-decomposable witness oper-				
		ators	52			
	4.6	Summary	56			
5	Wit	ness operator for Quantum Teleportation	58			
	5.1	Prelude	58			

	5.2	Proof of existence of witness	60
	5.3	A witness operator for teleportation	62
	5.4	Summary	66
6	Cor	nstruction of optimal teleportation witnesses	68
	6.1	Prelude	68
	6.2	Optimal teleportation witness	70
		6.2.1 Optimal teleportation witness for qubits	70
		6.2.2 Optimal teleportation witness for qutrits	71
		6.2.3 Teleportation witness for qudits	73
	6.3	Illustrations and Decomposition	73
	6.4	Summary	75
7	Wit	ness of mixed separable states useful for entanglement	
	crea	ation	77
	7.1	Prelude	77
	7.2	Existence, construction and completeness of witness	79
	7.3	Illustrations	82
	7.4	Entanglement creation using quantum gates	84
	7.5	Decomposition of the witness operator	86
	7.6	Summary	87
8	Cor	nclusions	88
	8.1	Summary of the thesis	89
	8.2	Future directions	90
Li	st of	Publications on which the thesis is based	92
To	otal l	ist of Publications	93
Bi	Bibliography		

List of Figures

2.1	A convex set	8
2.2	A non convex set	8
2.3	Hyperplane Separation	9
5.1	The set $S = \{\rho : F(\rho) \leq \frac{1}{d}\}$ is convex and compact, and using	
	the Hahn-Banach theorem it follows that any state useful for	
	teleportation can be separated from the states not useful for	
	teleportation by a hyperplane, thus providing for the existence	
	of a witness for teleportation.	63

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest obeisance to my teacher and supervisor Prof. Archan S Majumdar for giving me an opportunity to work under him. His thoughts and enriching insights have provided me with the guiding principles for my work towards this dissertation. He has always provided me with freedom of thought and necessary impetus for this research work.

This research would not have been possible without the encouragement and motivation provided by Dr.Satyabrata Adhikari. The fierce yet stimulating arguments that I had with him lead to this work. Words are not enough to express my gratitude for him who has simultaneously been my elder brother and teacher.

I would like to thank my co-workers Indranil, Sovik, Tanumoy and Jyotishman Chatterjee for always providing me with useful insights and enriching suggestions.

I acknowledge the authorities at Heritage Institute of Technology for their benevolent support. I would also like to express my sincerest gratitude to my friends and colleagues at Heritage Institute of Technology for their support and encouragement. I thank the authorities at S.N Bose National Centre for Basic Sciences for providing me with an opportunity to work in the institution for my thesis.

My parents, uncles and my wife Debanjana is responsible for what I am today.Their continuous encouragement have been the cornerstone of my life. Thus my gratitude for them is beyond expression through words.

I owe a lot to my teachers from my school and college for shaping my persona

and character. They will always occupy an esteemed place in my heart. Last but not the least I would like to express my reverence to various writers in science whose essays have instilled into me the motivation to contribute my little effort to science.

Nirman Ganguly

Abstract

Quantum entanglement which is at the heart of quantum information science marked one of the most significant departures of quantum mechanics from classical formalism. It remains a source of heated debates and posed questions pertaining to the foundational issues of quantum mechanics. A plethora of work followed the inception of entanglement, which addressed fundamental aspects.

However, towards the end of the last century the focus on entanglement gradually shifted from its foundational attributes to practical implementations. This resulted in state of the art technologies unimaginable within classical limits. Entanglement started to be counted as a major resource for quantum information and computational tasks.

The ubiquitous role of entanglement in tasks of communication and computation and its various manifestations, make its detection and characterization all the more important. This thesis is an attempt to encapsulate some features and characterizations of entanglement.

Here we have laid down prescriptions to construct hermitian operators , namely entanglement witnesses which can detect states admitting a positive partial transpose. We have discussed the experimental implementation of such witnesses. This is followed up by a study on the methods of construction of common witnesses which can detect a large set of entangled states. This is extended to the case of common Schmidt witnesses. A comparative study is made between decomposable and non-decomposable witnesses.

Teleportation, an archetypal quantum information processing task is made

possible through the use of entangled states as quantum channels. However,not all entangled states are suitable for the purpose. We have introduced the notion of teleportation witnesses which detect those entangled states which can be utilized as teleportation channels. The question of optimality of such witnesses is addressed next, where we have constructed some optimal teleportation witnesses in $d \otimes d$ dimensions.

We have introduced the notion of hermitian operators that can detect states which are not separable from spectrum and also discussed their relevance in entanglement creation through quantum gates and non-local unitary operations.

The thesis concludes with a summary and discussion on possible courses of future work.

Chapter 1

Introduction and Outline

"There are two ways of doing calculations in theoretical physics. One way and this is the way I prefer is to have a clear physical picture of the process that you are calculating. The other way is to have a precise and self consistent mathematical formalism."

Enrico Fermi

Quantum entanglement [EPR35, Sch35] brought a significant distinction to quantum mechanics. It signalled one of the foremost departures of quantum mechanics from classical mechanics.Entanglement refers to quantum correlations between separated physical systems much stronger than correlations allowed in classical mechanics. The notion of entanglement was envisaged by Einstein , Podolsky and Rosen (EPR) in their seminal paper [EPR35] to demonstrate the incompleteness of quantum theory. The nomenclature "Entanglement" was however coined by Schrodinger [Sch35] in a follow-up to the EPR contribution. Three decades later Bell formulated inequalities that any theory fulfilling the fundamental assumptions of the EPR , has to obey[Bel64]. He even showed that some entangled states violate these inequalities. Gradually, the attitude towards entanglement changed from the exploitation of its foundational principles to its practical implementations. Feynman [Fey82] motivated the quest to use quantum mechanics to simulate computations unimaginable classically. Subsequently, Deutsch [Deu85] laid down the quantum counterpart to the Church-Turing thesis [Chu36, Tur36] to pioneer quantum computation, later built upon by Barenco *et. al.*[BDEJ95]. Quantum algorithms [Sho94, Gro97] followed ,demonstrating exponential speed up over classical computations once again buttressing the significance of entanglement.

In parallel , the information theoretical aspects of entanglement[NC10] were also being exploited upon leading to milestone applications like teleportation [BBC⁺93], superdense coding[BW92]. The study of secured messages shifted paradigms with the advent of quantum cryptography [BB84, Eke91]. These state of the art technologies , gradually established the notion of entanglement as a physical resource much like energy.

Although entanglement is a vital resource its detection is a hard task. For low dimensional $(2 \otimes 2 \text{ and } 2 \otimes 3)$ states there exist simple necessary and sufficient conditions for separability [Per96, HHH96], which is based on the fact that separable states have a positive-partial transpose(PPT). For higher dimensional systems all states with negative partial transpose(NPT) are entangled but there are entangled states which have a positive-partial transpose. This paradoxical behaviour of quantum entanglement in higher dimensions makes it difficult to lay down a single necessary and sufficient condition for its detection.

A silver lining though came in the form of entanglement witnesses(EW) [HHH96, Ter00, GT09]. An outcome of the celebrated Hahn-Banach theorem in functional analysis[Hol75], entanglement witnesses are hermitian operators with at least one negative eigenvalue. Entanglement witness provides a necessary and sufficient condition to detect entanglement . More specifically a given state is entangled if and only if there is an EW that detects it[HHH96]. Entanglement witnesses can also be realized in an experimental setup thus making it a potent tool in the detection of entanglement. Teleportation [BBC⁺93], a quintessential quantum information processing task, in its standard protocol, requires entangled states which can give a fidelity higher than the classical optimum. It is an intriguing fact that not all entangled states suit the purpose. In fact literature has instances where even though a state is entangled, it cannot provide for a fidelity higher than the classical limit. This necessitates a criterion to check whether an entangled state is eligible to be used as a quantum teleportation channel. On the other side, the set of separable states contains a special class of states termed as absolutely separable which remain separable under any factorization. The complementary class containing non-absolutely separable states can be used successfully for entanglement creation, which has been a scope of major research [SKK+00, RNO+00].

1.1 Plan of the thesis

The thesis follows the scheme given below :

- Chapter 2 revisits some mathematical and physical requisites needed to follow the later study. It gives a platform for the analysis in the chapters that follow.
- In chapter 3 we prescribe methods to construct entanglement witnesses for PPT entangled states both in the bipartite and multipartite cases. We compare their efficacy with other known witnesses and discuss their experimental relevance.
- In chapter 4 we lay down procedures to construct common witnesses, following which one may detect a large number of entangled states both for the PPT and NPT case. We investigate the same for Schmidt witnesses and follow it up with a discussion on common decomposable and non-decomposable witnesses.
- In chapter 5 we prove the existence of hermitian operators which can identify useful resources for performing teleportation which we name as teleportation witness. We propose such a witness and lay down its measurement prescription.

- We construct optimal teleportation witnesses in chapter 6 and illustrate its experimental representation.
- In chapter 7 we propose hermitian operators that can detect separable states that are not separable from spectrum. These states can give rise to entangled states on the use of global unitary operations on them. The practical relevance of such operators are discussed in conjunction with entanglement creation through quantum gates.
- The thesis ends with a summary of the works with speculations on directions of future work.

Chapter 2

Mathematical and Physical prerequisites

"In mathematics you do not understand things, you just get used to them".

John von Neumann

In this chapter we revisit some mathematical and physical ideas closely associated with the later study. It will give us a framework to analyze and follow the later chapters.

2.1 Mathematical preliminaries

Vector spaces form the foundation of linear algebra. A vector space V is a collection of members known as vectors $\{v_i\}$, equipped with two fundamental operations namely,

(i) Vector addition $v_i + v_j$, where $v_i, v_j \in V$.

(ii) Scalar multiplication $c.v_i,$ where $c\in F$, F denotes the scalar field.

and which obeys the following axioms:

1. $v_i + v_j \in V, \forall v_i, v_j \in V$ 2. $v_i + (v_j + v_k) = (v_i + v_j) + v_k, \forall v_i, v_j, v_k \in V$ 3. $\exists \theta \in V$, such that $v + \theta = v = \theta + v, \forall v \in V$ 4. $\forall v \in V, \exists (-v) \in V$ such that $v + (-v) = \theta = (-v) + v$ 5. $\forall v_i, v_j \in V, v_i + v_j = v_j + v_i$ 6. $\forall c \in F$ and $v \in V, c.v \in V$ 7. $(c_1.c_2).v = c_1.(c_2.v)$, where $c_1, c_2 \in F$ 8. $\exists \mathbf{1} \in F$ such that $\mathbf{1}.v = v$ 9. $c.(v_i + v_j) = c.v_i + c.v_j$ and $(c_1 + c_2).v = c_1.v + c_2.v$

Generally , ${\cal C}$ which denotes the set of complex numbers, is taken to be the field.

We will henceforth use $|..\rangle$ as our quantum mechanical notation for a state vector.

2.1.1 Linear Independence and basis vectors

Suppose we have a set of vectors $|v_i\rangle$ in a vector space. Then by a linear combination of the vectors we mean a vector v such that $v = \sum_i c_i |v_i\rangle$, $c_i \in C$. If in a vector space V, any vector v can be expressed as a linear combination of the vectors from the set $\{|v_i\rangle\}$, then $\{|v_i\rangle\}$ is called a spanning set of V. A set of vectors $|v_i\rangle$ is said to be linearly dependent, if there exists at least one $c_i \neq 0$ such that $\sum_i c_i |v_i\rangle = \theta$. A set of vectors is linearly independent if it is not linearly dependent.

A linearly independent set of vectors that span a vector space is known as a basis and the number of vectors in the set is the dimension of the space. Basis, however is not unique but any two basis sets have the same number of vectors.

2.1.2 Linear Operators and Matrices

A operator T from a vector space V to W is said to be linear if

$$T(\sum_{i} c_i v_i) = \sum_{i} c_i T v_i \tag{2.1}$$

We say that a linear operator T is defined on a vector space V if T is a linear operator from V to V. Matrices are conveniently used in quantum information science to represent linear operators. Suppose $T: V \to W$ is a linear operator between vector spaces V and W. Suppose $\{|v_1\rangle, |v_2\rangle, ..., |v_m\rangle\}$ is a basis for V and $\{|w_1\rangle, |w_2\rangle, ..., |w_n\rangle\}$ is a basis for W. Then for each jin the range 1, ..., m one can find complex numbers T_{1j} T_{nj} such that $T|v_j\rangle = \sum_i T_{ij}|w_i\rangle$. The matrix whose elements are the complex numbers T_{ij} form a matrix representation of the operator T.

2.1.3 Inner Product and Norm

An inner product between two vectors v and w, denoted by (v, w), is a function $V \times V \to C$, which satisfies the following axioms:

- 1. (u + v, w) = (u, w) + (v, w)
- 2. $(\alpha v, w) = \alpha(v, w)$
- 3. $(v,w) = (w,v)^*$ (* denotes complex conjugation)
- 4. (v,v) > 0, (v,v) = 0 iff $v = \theta(\text{zero vector})$

In quantum mechanical notation, the inner product between two state vectors is written as $\langle v|w\rangle$. Norm of a vector $v \in$ vector space V, denoted by ||v||, is defined as $||v|| = \sqrt{(v,v)}$. A unit vector v is such that ||v|| = 1. It is also called a normalized vector. A Hilbert space is an inner product space complete with respect to the norm induced [Sim63].

2.1.4 Normal, Unitary and Hermitian operators

Suppose A is a linear operator on a Hilbert space H, then there exists a unique linear operator A^{\dagger} , such that $(Av, w) = (v, A^{\dagger}w)$. A^{\dagger} is known as the hermitian conjugate of A. An operator A is called:

- Normal iff $AA^{\dagger} = A^{\dagger}A$.
- Unitary iff $AA^{\dagger} = A^{\dagger}A = I$.
- Hermitian iff $A = A^{\dagger}$.

An eigenvector $|v\rangle$ is a non-zero vector corresponding to an operator A such that $A|v\rangle = \lambda |v\rangle$, where λ is the corresponding eigenvalue of the operator.

2.1.5 Convex sets

A set V is convex if for any $v_1, v_2, ..., v_n \in V$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i v_i \in V \tag{2.2}$$

where
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_i = 1$$
.





Figure 2.1: A convex set

Figure 2.2: A non convex set

Convex sets play a significant role in quantum information where very im-

portant structures can be classified as convex sets and elucidate inherent geometrical concepts.Convex sets can be separated from each other as well as from points which do not belong to the set by using separation axioms.This will form the framework for our later analysis to separate entangled states from separable ones using entanglement witnesses. There is a very important separation axiom pertaining to convex sets , namely the geometric form of the Hahn-Banach theorem [Hol75] which states that:

Hahn-Banach Theorem:

Let S be a convex and compact subset of a Hilbert space. Then a $p \notin S$ can be separated from S by a hyperplane.



Figure 2.3: Hyperplane Separation

2.2 Qubits and Bloch Sphere

Analogous to classical states 0 and 1, a quantum mechanical system can also be in a state. In the Dirac notation we write them as $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$. Here $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$ represent an orthonormal set of basis vectors. However, a quantum system can be in a superposition of the two basis vectors which has no analogue in a classical situation. Therefore, the simplest quantum mechanical system can be written as :

$$|\psi_{qubit}\rangle = \alpha|0\rangle + \beta|1\rangle \tag{2.3}$$

where α, β are complex numbers such that $|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 = 1$. In the classical scenario we can always determine whether a state is in 0 or 1 which however is not possible in quantum systems. When we measure a qubit we get either "0" with probability $|\alpha|^2$ or "1" with probability $|\beta|^2$.

The squares of the modulus of the complex numbers add to 1. Thus, equation 2.3 can be rewritten as(ignoring an insignificant factor) :

$$|\psi_{qubit}\rangle = \cos\frac{\theta}{2}|0\rangle + e^{i\omega}\sin\frac{\theta}{2}|1\rangle$$
 (2.4)

The above gives an excellent intuitive picture as ω and θ correspond to a point on the unit 3-dimensional sphere. This sphere is known as the Bloch Sphere which forms a convenient language in quantum computation and quantum information. However, the intuition is impeded by the lack of elegant generalization to multiqubit systems.

The notion of a qubit is based on a two dimensional space spanned by $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$, which can be suitably extended to higher dimensions. For example a general single qutrit spanned by $|0\rangle$, $|1\rangle$, $|2\rangle$ can be expressed as:

$$|\psi_{qutrit}\rangle = \alpha|0\rangle + \beta|1\rangle + \gamma|2\rangle \tag{2.5}$$

with $|\alpha|^2 + |\beta|^2 + |\gamma|^2 = 1$.

2.3 Density Matrix

The density matrix is a convenient language to describe a quantum system. If the state $|\psi_i\rangle$ occurs with a probability p_i , then the density matrix of the system can be expressed as

$$\rho = \sum_{i} p_i |\psi_i\rangle \langle \psi_i| \tag{2.6}$$

 ρ is a hermitian operator which is non-negative and $Tr(\rho) = 1$ (Normalization condition). A state ρ is said to be pure if $Tr(\rho^2) = 1$ and mixed if $Tr(\rho^2) < 1$. Since a density matrix ρ operates on a state vector $|\psi\rangle \in H$, $\rho \in B(H)$, where B(H) denotes the set of bounded linear operators on H, which again forms a Hilbert space.

2.4 Pauli matrices

The Pauli matrices are extremely important in quantum information and computation. They are given by the following matrices:

$$X \equiv \sigma_1 \equiv \sigma_x \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, Y \equiv \sigma_2 \equiv \sigma_y \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$Z \equiv \sigma_3 \equiv \sigma_z \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.7)

These matrices together with the identity matrix I forms a basis in the space of single qubit density matrices. The higher dimensional extension of these matrices are the Gell-Mann matrices [BK08] which is taken up in our later chapters.

In quantum mechanics, there is an operator that corresponds to each of the three spin observables for a spin 1/2 particle i.e., the component of the angular momentum along x, y and z axes respectively. The three operators are :

$$\hat{S}_x = \frac{\hbar}{2}\sigma_x, \quad \hat{S}_y = \frac{\hbar}{2}\sigma_y, \quad \hat{S}_z = \frac{\hbar}{2}\sigma_z \tag{2.8}$$

2.5 Schmidt decomposition and Schmidt number

Schmidt decomposition is an important tool in quantum information science. Suppose $|\Psi\rangle$ is a pure state of a composite system AB, then there exists orthonormal states $\{|i_A\rangle\}$ for A and $\{|i_B\rangle\}$ for system B, such that [NC10]

$$\Psi\rangle = \sum_{i}^{k} \lambda_{i} |i_{A}\rangle |i_{B}\rangle \tag{2.9}$$

where $\sum_i \lambda_i^2 = 1$, are known as the Schmidt coefficients which are nonnegative real numbers. The number k is the Schmidt rank of the composite state. The Schmidt number for a pure state is its Schmidt rank.

Mixed states however do not admit an unique decomposition as in eq. (2.9). An extension of the Schmidt number for mixed states was provided in [TH00], stated as : A bipartite density matrix ρ has Schmidt number k if (i) for any decomposition of ρ with probabilities p_i and vectors $|\psi_i\rangle$, atleast one of the vectors $|\psi_i\rangle$ has atleast Schmidt rank k and (ii) there exists a decomposition of ρ with all vectors $|\psi_i\rangle$ having Schmidt rank at most k.

2.6 Entanglement

We come to the section where we will discuss quantum entanglement. We will discuss here, entanglement in bipartite and multipartite systems, their various detection methods and one of its seminal applications namely quantum teleportation.

2.6.1 Bipartite Entanglement

Suppose a pure state $|\psi\rangle \in H$. If one can find $|\psi\rangle_A \in H_A$ and $|\psi\rangle_B \in H_B$ (H_A and H_B refer to the subsystems), such that $|\psi\rangle$ can be written as,

$$|\psi\rangle = |\psi\rangle_A \otimes |\psi\rangle_B \tag{2.10}$$

then $|\psi\rangle$ is known to be separable. However, states which cannot be written as in (2.10) are known as entangled states. A bipartite mixed composite system ρ is said to be in an entangled state if ρ cannot be expressed in a convex combination as

$$\rho = \sum_{i} p_i \rho_i^A \otimes \rho_i^B, \quad \sum_{i} p_i = 1$$
(2.11)

where ρ_i^A and ρ_i^B pertain to the respective subsystems.

2.6.2 Entanglement of three qubits

Consider first pure three-qubit states. There are two different categories of separability: the fully separable states that can be written as

$$|\chi^{fs}\rangle_{A|B|C} = |\alpha\rangle_A \otimes |\beta\rangle_B \otimes |\gamma\rangle_C \tag{2.12}$$

and the biseparable states that can be written as a product state in the bipartite system. A biseparable state can be formed if two of the three qubits form one group. Thus, the three possibilities are :

$$|\chi^{bs}\rangle_{A|BC} = |\alpha\rangle_A \otimes |\xi\rangle_{BC}, |\chi^{bs}\rangle_{B|AC} = |\beta\rangle_B \otimes |\xi\rangle_{AC}, |\chi^{bs}\rangle_{C|AB} = |\gamma\rangle_C \otimes |\xi\rangle_{AB}$$

A pure state is called genuine tripartite entangled if it is neither fully separable nor biseparable. Examples of such states are the Greenberger Horne Zeilinger (GHZ) state [GHZ89] and the W state [ZHG92, DVC00].

The classification for mixed states follows from [ABLS01, DC00], where a mixed state is said to be fully separable if it can be expressed as convex combination of fully separable states.

$$\rho^{fs} = \sum_{i} p_i |\chi_i^{fs}\rangle \langle \chi_i^{fs}| \tag{2.13}$$

Similarly, for biseparable states

$$\rho^{bs} = \sum_{i} p_i |\chi_i^{bs}\rangle \langle \chi_i^{bs}| \tag{2.14}$$

States which are neither fully separable nor biseparable are fully entangled. There are two important classes of fully entangled states. A fully entangled state is said to belong to the W class if can be written as a convex combination of W-type pure states,

$$\rho^{W} = \sum_{i} p_{i} |\chi_{i}^{W}\rangle \langle \chi_{i}^{W}| \qquad (2.15)$$

on the other hand a state is said to belong to GHZ class if it can be written as a convex combination of GHZ-type states,

$$\rho^{GHZ} = \sum_{i} p_i |\chi_i^{GHZ}\rangle \langle \chi_i^{GHZ}| \qquad (2.16)$$

2.6.3 Bound Entanglement

Different methods to detect entanglement actually try to find the the quantumclassical demarcation line. Entanglement is not very robust in nature. It is vulnerable against the decoherence effect of the environment. Thus it is important to analyze those entangled states which have a close proximity with the set of separable states and also inspect if some entangled states with a high quantity of entanglement can be created from weakly entangled states for the sake of quantum information processing tasks. In fact this is actually the process known as distillation of entanglement where many entangled states which possess a weak entanglement can be processed to obtain a fewer number of states having a high degree of entanglement.

Entanglement distillation [BBP+96] is the process of transforming N copies of an arbitrary entangled state ρ into approximately $S(\rho)N$ Bell pairs (where $S(\rho)$ is the von Neumann entropy of ρ), using only local operations and classical communication (LOCC)[BBPS96].Distillation [BBP+96] can in this way overcome the degenerative influence of noisy quantum channels by transforming previously shared less entangled pairs into a smaller number of maximally entangled pairs (Bell states). However there are entangled states from which no entanglement can be distilled, accordingly called bound entangled states [HHH98] and hence cannot be directly used for quantum information processing .Interestingly, entangled states that are positive under partial transpose (PPT) (i.e PPTES) were shown to be bound entangled. There are examples of bound entangled states both in bipartite[Hor97] and multipartite case [ABLS01]. Of specific importance in this regard are edge states[LKCH00] which lie at the boundary of PPT and NPT entangled states.

2.6.4 Different detection methods

Quantum entanglement in general is not easy to detect with the situation getting more involved in high dimensions. However, literature in quantum information contains various prescriptions to detect entanglement, some of which we discuss in this segment[HHHH09, GT09].

1. The positive partial transposition (PPT) Criterion : Any density matrix of a composite quantum system in a chosen basis can be written in the form

$$\rho = \sum_{i,j}^{N} \sum_{k,l}^{M} \rho_{ij,kl} |i\rangle \langle j| \otimes |k\rangle \langle l|$$
(2.17)

Given this decomposition the partial transposition with respect to one subsystem is given by

$$\rho^{T_A} = \sum_{i,j}^{N} \sum_{k,l}^{M} \rho_{ji,kl} |i\rangle \langle j| \otimes |k\rangle \langle l|$$
(2.18)

Any bipartite separable state ρ has a positive partial transposition [Per96], i.e $\rho^{T_A} \ge 0$.

If ρ is a state in $2 \otimes 2$ or $2 \otimes 3$ system, then ρ is a separable state iff $\rho^{T_A} \geq 0$ [HHH96, Stø63, Wor76]. For higher dimensions this is not the case, i.e there are entangled states with positive partial transposition.

2. Computable Cross norm and realignment criterion [CCNR][CW03, Rud00]: For a density matrix ρ , the Schimdt decomposition can be expressed as :

$$\rho = \sum_{k} \lambda_k O_k^A \otimes O_k^B \tag{2.19}$$

where $\lambda_k \geq 0$ and O_k^A, O_k^B are orthonormal bases of the spaces H_A and H_B .

The criteria states that if the state ρ is separable , then the sum of all

 λ_k in the above equation is smaller than one.

$$\sum_k \lambda_k \le 1$$

Hence $\sum_k \lambda_k > 1$ signals that the state must be entangled.

- 3. The range criteria provides an approach to detect entangled states in some cases when the PPT criteria fails[Hor97]. It states that if a state ρ is separable, then there is a set of product vectors $|a_ib_i\rangle$ such that the set $|a_ib_i\rangle$ spans the range of ρ as well as the set $|a_ib_i^*\rangle$ spans the range of ρ^{T_B} . Here * denotes conjugation.
- 4. The majorization criterion gives a separation criteria based on the relation of the density matrix of the state to the density matrix of the reduced state[NK01]. Consider $P = \{p_1, p_2, ...\}$ to be the decreasingly ordered eigenvalues of ρ and $Q = \{q_1, q_2, ...\}$ the decreasingly ordered eigenvalues of the reduced density matrix ρ_A . The majorization criteria states that , if ρ is separable then

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} p_i \le \sum_{i=1}^{k} q_i \tag{2.20}$$

holds for all k.

- 5. There some strong algorithmic approaches to detect entanglement, one of them being the method of symmetric extensions [DPS02, Wer89a].
- 6. The PPT criteria is a part of a more general method of detection of entanglement based on positive maps. Let H_B and H_C be the Hilbert spaces and $B(H_i)$ be the space of bounded linear operators on it. Then a linear map $\Lambda : B(H_B) \to B(H_C)$ is said to be positive if it preserves positivity and hermiticity. A positive map Λ is called a completely positive map if $I_A \otimes \Lambda$ is also positive. A state ρ is separable iff for all positive maps Λ , the following relation holds [HHH96]

$$I_A \otimes \Lambda(\rho) \ge 0 \tag{2.21}$$

Another example of a positive map which is not completely positive is the reduction map [CAG99, HH99], defined on one subsystem as

$$\Lambda^{r}(X) = Tr(X)I - X \tag{2.22}$$

Consequently, a separable state fulfills $I_A \otimes \Lambda^r(\rho) = \rho_A \otimes I - \rho \ge 0$.

The methods underlined above constitute a small portion of a substantial literature on detection of entanglement. For a more detailed discussion one may consult [HHHH09, GT09].

2.7 Entanglement Witnesses

Entanglement witnesses constitute a very general method to distinguish entangled states from the separable ones. Since, entanglement witnesses arise from the geometry of entangled states, it can be used to characterize the set of separable states. They form a potent tool in detection of entanglement, as being hermitian, they provide experimentally viable procedures of entanglement detection. This section studies entanglement witnesses and their different methods of construction.

Entanglement witnesses [HHH96, Ter00, GT09, HHHH09] rely on the Hahn-Banach theorem. Since the set of separable states is convex and compact, one can construct a hyperplane which separates an entangled state from the set of all separable states. In fact, the entanglement witnesses provide for a strong criterion because of its completeness, i.e, a state is entangled if and only if there is a witness that detects it[HHH96].

2.7.1 Definition

Let SEP and ENT denote the set of all separable states and entangled states respectively. A hermitian operator W with at least one negative eigenvalue will be called an entanglement witness if the following two conditions are satisfied

$$(i)Tr(W\sigma) \ge 0, \quad \forall \sigma \in SEP$$

$$(ii) \exists \rho \in ENT \quad s.t \quad Tr(W\rho) < 0$$
(2.23)

Therefore a negative expectation value of a witness on a state indicates the presence of entanglement. The hyperplane is constituted by all those states χ for which the expectation value of the witness is zero, i.e, represented by the equation $Tr(W\chi) = 0$. However entanglement witnesses are not universal as there does not exist a single witness that detects all entangled states. If a witness can be expressed as

$$W = P + Q^{T_B}, P \ge 0, Q \ge 0 \tag{2.24}$$

then the witness is called decomposable otherwise it is called non-decomposable or indecomposable. Decomposable witnesses cannot detect entangled states with a positive partial transpose.

2.7.2 Different methods of construction of Entanglement Witnesses

There are numerous methods to construct entanglement witnesses [GT09], some of them are enumerated below:

- 1. Let ρ be a state having a negative partial transposition. Let $|\eta\rangle$ be an eigenvector corresponding to a negative eigenvalue of the partial transposed state ρ^{T_A} . Then $(|\eta\rangle\langle\eta|)^{T_A}$ is a decomposable witness that detects ρ as $Tr((|\eta\rangle\langle\eta|)^{T_A}\rho) = Tr((|\eta\rangle\langle\eta|)\rho^{T_A}) < 0$.
- 2. When ρ is a state that violates the CCNR criterion, then $W = I \sum_k O_k^A \otimes O_k^B$ is an entanglement witness for ρ , where O_k^A, O_k^B are the observables from the Schimdt decomposition [YL05, GMTA06].
- 3. The states in the neighbourhood of an entangled state may also be entangled.Witness operators can be constructed from this point of view.

Thus $W = \alpha I - |\psi\rangle \langle \psi|$ is an witness, where $\alpha = max_{\sigma}Tr(\sigma|\psi\rangle \langle \psi|)$ and $|\psi\rangle$ is an entangled state. The maximization is done over all separable states σ .

4. Edge states (a special class of PPT entangled states and we will define them later) was studied extensively in [LKCH00] and a non-decomposable witness was proposed exclusively for edge states δ which was of the form

$$W^{\delta} = P + Q^{T_B} - \varepsilon I, \quad P \ge 0, \quad Q \ge 0, \quad 0 < \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0$$
 (2.25)

Since edge states are not of full rank neither are their partial transpose so P and Q can always be chosen as projectors from the respective kernels of δ and δ^{T_B} . ε_0 was defined as

$$\varepsilon_0 = inf_{|e,f\rangle} \langle e, f|P + Q^{T_B}|e, f\rangle \tag{2.26}$$

The above mentioned choices entailed that

$$Tr(W^{\delta}\sigma) \ge 0 \quad \forall \text{ separable } \sigma \text{ and}$$

 $Tr(W^{\delta}\delta) < 0$ (2.27)

- 5. Geometry provides another perspective to the construction of entanglement witnesses [PR02, BNT02, BDHK05]. If χ_e is an entangled state and σ_c is the closest separable state to χ_e in the Hilbert Schmidt norm ($||X|| = \sqrt{Tr(X^{\dagger}X)}$, then $\frac{1}{N}(\sigma_c - \chi_e + Tr[\sigma_c(\chi_e - \sigma_c)]I)$, with $N = ||\chi_e - \sigma_c||$ is an entanglement witness. However, finding the nearest separable state is a computationally hard task except for some special states.
- Indecomposable witnesses are indispensable for detecting entangled states having a positive partial transpose. Some of those constructions can be found in [CK08, CK07].
- 7. Semidefinite programs used to implement the algorithm for symmetric extension[DPS02] give an entanglement witness as a by product.

2.7.3 Relation between Entanglement witnesses and Positive maps

Jamiolkowski Isomorphism[Jam72]: This isomorphism gives the very important relation between entanglement witness and positive maps. Given an operator $W \in \mathbf{B}(H_B \otimes H_C)$ and a map ε , then the relation is

$$\varepsilon(\rho) = Tr_B(W\rho^{T_B}) \tag{2.28}$$

The following are very important observations [Lew04]:

(i) $W \ge 0$ iff ε is a completely positive map.

(ii) W is an entanglement witness iff ε is a positive map(but not completely positive).

(iii) W is a decomposable entanglement witness iff ε is decomposable.

(iv) W is a non-decomposable entanglement witness iff ε is non-decomposable and positive.

2.8 Bell's Inequality

In any discussion of entanglement witnesses, Bell's inequalities occupy an indispensable space as the inequalities are considered to be the foremost entanglement witnesses. Although originally it was Bell's reaction[Bel64] to the EPR paradox three decades earlier[EPR35], yet in the years that followed it came up with various manifestations. From the days of its inception it has constituted a major discussion point of the foundations of quantum mechanics. However, the practical implementations of the inequalities match their foundational importance. One such domain is the theory of entanglement witness.

Observers located at remote positions make measurements on entangled pairs of particles which had an interaction at some point of time. On the assumption of hidden variables, they lead to stringent bounds on the possible values of the correlation of subsequent measurements that can be obtained from the particle pairs. Bell discovered that the predictions of quantum mechanics in certain cases, constitute a violation of these bounds.

Let us consider a simple example of a bipartite system . We assume that Alice can measure two quantities at her part, labelled A_1 and A_2 , while Bob can also measure two quantities at his part, called B_1 and B_2 . The results of these experiments are a_1, a_2 and b_1, b_2 and we assume that these results can take the values +1,-1. Expectation values can be obtained simply by averaging the measurement results, $\langle A_i B_j \rangle = \frac{1}{M} \sum_{k=1}^M a_i(k) b_j(k)$. Now the Bell-CHSH inequality [CHSH69] can be formulated as :

$$\langle A_1 B_1 \rangle + \langle A_2 B_1 \rangle + \langle A_1 B_2 \rangle - \langle A_2 B_2 \rangle \le 2 \tag{2.29}$$

The above inequality is called a Bell's inequality.

In quantum mechanics the violation implies that the state is entangled. However the converse is not true, there are entangled states which do not violate Bell's inequality.

2.9 States which are separable from spectrum

Even though there are numerous methods to witness the signature of entanglement in quantum systems, verifying separability is a hard task[Gur03]. Thus, the set of separable states too poses significant questions. One very intriguing existence is claimed by the absolutely separable states [KŻ01] within the set of separable states. The absolutely separable states unlike other separable states remain separable under any factorization of the corresponding Hilbert space. These states are also termed as states which are separable from spectrum [Kni03]. In fact a separable state σ is separable from spectrum if $U\sigma U^{\dagger}$ is separable for any unitary operator U.

On the other hand states which are not absolutely separable are significant in the sense that such states can be used as initial states for entanglement creation[SKK+00, RNO+00, KC01, LL09, KRS11] using global unitary operations. As no global unitary operator can convert an absolutely separable state into an entangled state, non-absolutely separable states are important in this scenario. However, it is important to determine which states are non-absolutely separable, a study which we report in chapter 7.

2.10 Entanglement Measures

Quantification of entanglement occupies a very important place in quantum information science. Since an entanglement measure Q quantifies entanglement, certain properties are desirable. However all quantification procedures available do not satisfy all the desired properties. The properties are mentioned below [VPRK97, GT09, HHHH09]:

- 1. $Q(\sigma)$ must vanish on any separable state σ .
- 2. An entanglement measure should be invariant under local unitary transformations.
- 3. An entanglement measure should not increase on average under local operations and classical communications(LOCC).
- 4. A measure should decrease on mixing two or more states.
- 5. Requirement of additivity and full additivity i.e.,

$$Q(\rho^{\otimes n}) = nQ(\rho) \tag{2.30}$$

$$Q(\rho_1 \otimes \rho_2) = Q(\rho_1) + Q(\rho_2)$$
(2.31)

We now lay down few measures existing in literature[HHHH09, GT09]:

1. Concurrence [HW97, Woo98, RBC⁺01]: Concurrence is one of the most popular entanglement measures. For pure states it is defined as :

$$C(|\psi\rangle) = \sqrt{2[1 - Tr(\rho_A^2)]}$$
 (2.32)

where ρ_A is the reduced state of $|\psi\rangle$ given by $\rho_A = Tr_B(|\psi\rangle\langle\psi|)$. For a general two qubit density matrix ρ the concurrence is given as:

$$C(\rho) = max(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2 - \lambda_3 - \lambda_4, 0)$$
(2.33)

where λ_i are the decreasingly ordered eigenvalues of the matrix $A = \sqrt{\rho^{1/2} Y \otimes Y \rho^* Y \otimes Y \rho^{1/2}}$, Y being the Pauli matrix.

2. Negativity [VW02, ZHSL98]: Negativity measures to what degree the PPT criterion is violated, formally written as :

$$N(\rho) = \frac{\|\rho^{T_A}\| - 1}{2}$$
(2.34)

where $\| \dots \|$ is the trace norm.

3. Relative entropy of entanglement [VP98]: The relative entropy of entanglement is given by :

$$Q(\rho) = inf_{\sigma}S(\rho \parallel \sigma) \tag{2.35}$$

where the infimum is taken over all separable states σ and $S(\rho \parallel \sigma) = Tr[\rho log(\rho) - \rho log(\sigma)].$

4. Entanglement witnesses can be utilized to quantify entanglement. A general expression for the quantification of entanglement via witness operators is [Bra05]:

$$Q(\rho) = max[0, -min_{W \in M}Tr(W\rho)]$$
(2.36)

where M is the intersection of the set of entanglement witnesses with another set such that M is compact.

These were just a few of the measures . For a detailed discussion one may refer to [PV07, HHHH09].

2.11 Quantum Teleportation

The notion of separation axiom now no longer remains confined to the mere construction of entanglement witnesses. Witness operators are now being constructed to capture other manifestations of quantum states namely mixedness[MPM13],thermodynamical properties[BV04],cryptography[BHH12], discord[DVB10, BC10, GB13, GA12] etc. Consequently witness operators have gone beyond the realm of mere detection.Witnesses are now gradually being linked with various quantum information processing tasks. One such task that we probe upon in this thesis is Quantum Teleportation [BBC⁺93]. Quantum teleportation is a seminal information processing task where now the present challenges are to explore the experimental frontiers [BPM⁺97, UJA⁺04].We revisit the basic protocol of teleportation[NC10] in this section to facilitate our later study.

Suppose, Alice wants to send an unknown state $|\chi\rangle = \alpha |0\rangle + \beta |1\rangle$ to Bob. Let them share a maximally entangled state (say the Bell state $|\phi^+\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|00\rangle + |11\rangle)$. Therefore, the three party system can be written in the form,

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} [\alpha |0\rangle (|00\rangle + |11\rangle) + \beta |1\rangle (|00\rangle + |11\rangle)]$$
(2.37)

where the first two qubits belong to Alice and the last to Bob.

Alice sends her two qubits through the CNOT gate, to obtain the state in the form,

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} [\alpha |0\rangle (|00\rangle + |11\rangle) + \beta |1\rangle (|10\rangle + |01\rangle)]$$
(2.38)

Applying the Hadamard gate to the first qubit she gets

$$\frac{1}{2}[\alpha(|0\rangle + |1\rangle)(|00\rangle + |11\rangle) + \beta(|0\rangle - |1\rangle)(|10\rangle + |01\rangle)]$$
(2.39)

Regrouping the terms,

$$\frac{1}{2}[|00\rangle(\alpha|0\rangle+\beta|1\rangle)+|01\rangle(\alpha|1\rangle+\beta|0\rangle)+|10\rangle(\alpha|0\rangle-\beta|1\rangle)+|11\rangle(\alpha|1\rangle-\beta|0\rangle)]$$
(2.40)

Alice's measurement and Bob's state depending upon her measurement can have the following four possibilities with equal probability: $\{00, \alpha | 0 \rangle + \beta | 1 \rangle\}$, $\{01, \alpha | 1 \rangle + \beta | 0 \rangle\}$, $\{10, \alpha | 0 \rangle - \beta | 1 \rangle\}$, $\{11, \alpha | 1 \rangle - \beta | 0 \rangle\}$, wherein, the first member corresponds to Alice's measurement and the second corresponds to Bob's state.

Now, Alice has to communicate two classical bits to Bob to convey her mea-

surement outcome. If she communicates 00 then Bob has to do nothing as his state is already in the state χ . If she communicates 01, then Bob has to apply X gate to his qubit to change it to χ . In case of the communication being 10, Bob has to apply Z gate to his qubit. In the last case Bob has to apply X gate followed by a Z gate to retrieve χ . The gates used in the protocol are transformation brought about by the following operators:

$$X = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ Z = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \ CNOT = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and the Hadamard}$$
gate $H = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$

The Bell state that is shared between Alice and Bob represents the quantum channel for teleportation. It can be replaced by other entangled states [LK00]. The protocol has been generalized to include multipartite channels [MP08, AP06] and also bipartite channels in higher dimensions. However, different channels have different efficacy represented by the fidelity of teleportation. Fidelity in turn is dictated by a parameter known as fully entangled fraction [BDSW96, HHH99a, ZLFW10]. The fully entangled fraction (FEF) [HHH99a] is defined for a bipartite state ρ in $d \otimes d$ dimensions as

$$F(\rho) = max_U \langle \psi^+ | U^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho U \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$$
(2.41)

where $|\psi^+\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d}} \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} |ii\rangle$ and U is a unitary operator. A quantum channel is useful for teleportation if it can provide a fidelity higher than what can be done classically. The fidelity (f) depends on the FEF of the state, given by $f = \frac{Fd+1}{d+1}$ [HHH99a]. A state in $d \otimes d$ dimensions works as a teleportation channel if its FEF > $\frac{1}{d}$ [HHH99a, VJN00, ZLFW10]. It is an intriguing aspect that not all entangled states are useful for teleportation [ZLFW10]. So, one may want to detect entangled states which can be useful for the protocol, an investigation that we address in chapter 5.
2.12 Summary

This chapter captures the basic essentials needed to follow the later study. The physical insights that are exploited in later chapters have been discussed here with the corresponding mathematical aspects to maintain the logical pedagogy. However there remain some finer notions which will be elucidated in the later discussions as and when necessary. Entanglement, being such an important player in quantum information processing tasks, its detection remains a major issue which we address in the next chapter. More so, for those entangled states admitting a positive partial transpose, as they remain unnoticed by most standard detection procedures including Bell's inequalities [Bel64, CHSH69].

Chapter 3

Entanglement Witness Operator for edge states

3.1 Prelude

Quantum entanglement continues to have an enigmatic presence since the days of its inception. Towards the end of the last century and with the turn of the century the theoretical proposals for possible applications of entanglement[EPR35, Sch35] increased manifolds. This brought a sea change in quantum computation and information with the advent of quantum computation [BDEJ95], teleportation [BBC⁺93].Experimental challenges [BPM⁺97] broadened the frontiers of both informational and computational tasks. The significance of entanglement in state of the art technologies motivated scientists to take up the challenge of its detection[GT09, HHHH09], more so incited by the paradoxical behaviour. For low dimensional ($2 \otimes 2$ and $2 \otimes 3$) states there exist simple necessary and sufficient conditions for separability [Per96, HHH96] which is based on the fact that separable states have a positive partial transpose (PPT). However, in higher dimensional systems all states which have a positive partial transposition [Hor97, BDM⁺99].

Thus the separability problem can be framed as finding whether states with positive partial transposition are entangled. Of specific importance in this context are the so called edge states [LKCH00] which lie at the boundary of PPT and NPT states. An interesting character that an edge state shows is extreme violation of the range criterion [Hor97] which states that there exists no product vector $|e, f\rangle$ belonging to the range of the edge state ρ such that $|e, f^*\rangle$ (conjugation is done with respect to the second system) belongs to the range of ρ^{T_B} . Since the edge states are PPT entangled states so partial transposition method fails to detect them and also it is very difficult to identify the edge states by range criterion. So it becomes necessary to find an alternate method to detect the edge states.

Since, standard detection procedures complicates the detection of PPT entangled states, witnesses can be pragmatically used for the purpose. However, witnesses which are non-decomposable in nature are of prime importance in this scenario as decomposable witnesses fail to identify PPT entangled states as the partial transposition is itself decomposable[HHH96]. Terhal first introduced non-decomposable positive linear maps based on entangled quantum states using the notion of unextendible product basis[Ter01]. Thereafter Lewenstein *et. al.* worked extensively on non-decomposable witnesses and provided elegant prescriptions for their optimization[LKCH00]. In this chapter we propose a new non-decomposable witness for edge states and make a comparative analysis of it with other known witness. We also provide an insight as to how an experimental realization can be done of our proposed witness with illustrations of the action of the operator from different dimensions.

The chapter follows the following structure: In section 3.2 we cite certain related definitions and terms. In section 3.3 we revisit the non-decomposable witness operator and find the condition for which it is finer. In section 3.4 we give the construction of the witness, its extension to multipartite edge states and discuss its experimental realization. In section 3.5 we compare our proposed witness with that in [LKCH00]. In section 3.6 we provide explicit examples. Lastly we end with conclusions.

3.2 A few definitions and results

Definition-1: The kernel of a given density matrix $\rho \in B(H_A \otimes H_B)$ is defined as the set of all eigenvectors corresponding to the zero eigenvalue of ρ in the Hilbert space $H_A \otimes H_B$. Mathematically, $ker(\rho) = \{|x\rangle \in H_A \otimes H_B : \rho |x\rangle = 0\}$.

Definition-2: A PPT entangled state δ is called an edge state if for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and any product vector $|e, f\rangle$, $\delta' = \delta - \varepsilon |e, f\rangle \langle e, f|$ is not a PPT state. where P and Q are positive semi-definite operators.

Definition-3: Given two entanglement witnesses W_1 and W_2 , a witness W_1 is said to be finer than another witness W_2 if $D_{W_2} \subseteq D_{W_1}$, where the set D_W is defined as $D_W = \{\rho \ge 0, \text{ such that } Tr(W\rho) < 0\}.$

Result-1: Given two non-decomposable witnesses W_1 and W_2 , W_1 is finer than W_2 , if W_2 can be written as [LKCH00]

$$W_2 = (1 - \lambda)W_1 + \lambda D \tag{3.1}$$

where D is a decomposable witness operator and $0 \le \lambda < 1$. Result-2: A witness operator D is decomposable iff [LKCH00]

$$Tr(D\rho) \ge 0$$
, for PPT entangled state ρ (3.2)

3.3 Revisiting non-decomposable witnesses

Lewenstein et. al. [LKCH00] studied the edge states extensively and introduced a non-decomposable witness exclusively for edge states δ which was of the form

$$W^{\delta} = P + Q^{T_B} - \varepsilon I, \quad P \ge 0, \quad Q \ge 0, \quad 0 < \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0$$
(3.3)

Since edge states are not of full rank neither are their partial transpose, so P and Q can always be chosen as projectors from the respective kernels of δ

and δ^{T_B} . ε_0 was defined as

$$\varepsilon_0 = inf_{|e,f\rangle} \langle e, f|P + Q^{T_B}|e, f\rangle \tag{3.4}$$

The above mentioned choices entailed that

$$Tr(W^{\delta}\sigma) \ge 0 \quad \forall \text{ separable } \sigma \text{ and}$$

 $Tr(W^{\delta}\delta) < 0$ (3.5)

When we are willing to detect PPT entangled states which are not edge states through the witness operator W^{δ} then in this situation the task becomes very difficult in choosing the positive semi-definite operators P and Q. This is because of the fact that the given PPT entangled state ρ (not edge state) or the state described by its partial transposition can be of full rank. Therefore the detection of PPT entangled state (excluding edge states) using W^{δ} turned out to be a difficult task. So our focus should be on searching the witness operator which can be easily constructed and also detects PPT entangled state together with edge states. We start our search by considering a PPT entangled state ρ . Next we impose two assumptions on ρ :

A1: The PPT entangled state ρ is not an edge state.

A2: ρ is not of full rank but ρ^{T_B} is.

With these assumptions, P can be chosen as mentioned earlier i.e. P can be chosen as a projector on the kernel of ρ .Since there are no vectors in the kernel of $\rho^{T_B}(\rho^{T_B}$ is of full rank), we take Q as a null operator. These choices of P and Q reduces W^{δ} to W^{ρ} , which is given by

$$W^{\rho} = P - \varepsilon' I, \quad P > 0, \quad 0 < \varepsilon' \le \varepsilon_1$$

$$(3.6)$$

where

$$\varepsilon_1 = inf_{|e,f\rangle} \langle e, f|P|e, f\rangle \tag{3.7}$$

Thus, the PPT entangled state ρ which satisfies the above mentioned assumptions can be detected by the non-decomposable witness operator W^{ρ} . Next our task is to show that W^{ρ} is finer than W^{δ} .

The result given in (3.1) clearly authenticates that the witness operator (3.6) is finer than its counterpart (3.3) because (3.3) can be written as

$$W^{\delta} = (1 - \lambda)W^{\rho} + \lambda D, \quad 0 \le \lambda < 1 \tag{3.8}$$

taking $D = Q^{T_B}$.

Thus, W^{ρ} gives us a more general entanglement witness which can detect some PPT entangled states along with edge states, or in other words, W^{ρ} is finer than W^{δ} .

Illustration: As an illustration we consider the PPT entangled state [HHH99b]

$$\rho_{\alpha} = \frac{2}{7} |\psi^{+}\rangle \langle \psi^{+}| + \frac{\alpha}{7} \rho_{+} + \frac{5 - \alpha}{7} \rho_{-}$$
(3.9)

where

$$\rho_{+} = \frac{1}{3} (|01\rangle \langle 01| + |12\rangle \langle 12| + |20\rangle \langle 20|)$$

$$\rho_{-} = \frac{1}{3} (|10\rangle \langle 10| + |21\rangle \langle 21| + |02\rangle \langle 02|)$$

$$|\psi^{+}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}} \sum_{i=0}^{2} |ii\rangle$$
(3.10)

The state is PPT entangled for $3 < \alpha \leq 4$ and edge state for $\alpha = 4$. The rank of ρ_{α} is 7 whereas the rank of $\rho_{\alpha}^{T_B}$ is 9. Now using the prescription described above for the construction of the witness operator (3.6), we can

easily construct the witness operator for the PPT entangled state ρ_{α} as

$$W^{\rho_{\alpha}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - \varepsilon' & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\varepsilon' & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon' & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon' & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 -\varepsilon' & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon' & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon' & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon' & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 -\varepsilon' \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.11)

We observe that $Tr(W^{\rho_{\alpha}}\rho_{\alpha}) = -\varepsilon' < 0.$

3.4 Construction of the witness and its experimental realization

In this section we propose a new non-decomposable witness operator and thereafter show that it is an operator which detects the edge states. Also we study its extension in the multipartite system and further discuss its experimental realization.

Theorem 3.1. An operator W is a non-decomposable witness operator for an edge state δ if it can be expressed in the form

$$W = Q^{T_B} - k(I - P) (3.12)$$

where P is a positive semi-definite operator and Q is a positive definite operator and T_B denotes the partial transposition over the second subsystem.

Proof: To prove that W is a non-decomposable witness operator for an edge state δ , it is sufficient to verify the two witness inequalities given in (2.23) for W.

(i) We have to show that $Tr(W\sigma) \ge 0 \quad \forall$ separable state σ .

$$Tr(W\sigma) = Tr((Q^{T_B} - k(I - P))\sigma)$$

= $Tr(Q\sigma^{T_B}) - k(1 - Tr(P\sigma))$ (since $Tr(Q^{T_B}\sigma) = Tr(Q\sigma^{T_B})$)
= $((1 - Tr(P\sigma)))[\frac{Tr(Q\sigma^{T_B})}{(1 - Tr(P\sigma))} - k]$ (3.13)

We can always select a value of k from the interval $0 < k \leq k_0$ so that $Tr(W\sigma) \geq 0$, where k_0 is given by

$$k_0 = \min \frac{Tr(Q\sigma^{T_B})}{1 - Tr(P\sigma)}$$
(3.14)

Here the minimum is taken over all separable states σ .

(ii) Now it remains to be shown that $Tr(W\delta) < 0$ for an edge state δ .

Since δ and δ^{T_B} have some vectors in their kernel so we get some freedom to choose the operators P and Q as the projectors on $ker(\delta)$ and $ker(\delta^{T_B})$ respectively. Therefore, we have $Tr(P\delta) = 0$ and $Tr(Q\delta^{T_B}) = 0$.

$$Tr(W\delta) = Tr(Q^{T_B}\delta) - kTr((I - P)\delta)$$
$$= Tr(Q\delta^{T_B}) - k(1 - Tr(P\delta))$$
$$= -k$$
(3.15)

Now using the inequality $0 < k \leq k_0$ and exploiting equations (3.14) and (3.15), we find that $Tr(W\delta) < 0$. Hence we are able to prove that the non-decomposable witness operator proposed in the theorem detects an edge state.

Corollary: The non-decomposable witness can also be constructed as

$$W' = P - k(I - Q^{T_B}), \quad 0 < k \le k_0, \quad P > 0, \quad Q \ge 0$$
(3.16)

where

$$k_0 = \min_{\sigma} \frac{Tr(P\sigma)}{1 - Tr(Q\sigma^{T_B})}$$
(3.17)

With similar arguments it can be shown that W' also detects edge states. Particularly if $Q^{T_B} = 0$, i.e. if the state described by the partially transposed density operator has no vectors in its kernel then witness operator (3.16) reduces to (3.6). Hence in this case the witness operator (3.16) detects not only edge states but also other PPT entangled states.

Extension of the witness for edge states in 3 qubits: Since edge states are also found in tripartite systems so we extend the prescription of our proposed entanglement witness operator in 3-qubit systems.

For a given tripartite edge state $\delta_{tri} \in B(H_1 \otimes H_2 \otimes H_3)$, we define the non-decomposable witness operator as:

$$W_{tri} = Q^{T_X} - k_0(I - P), \quad X = 1, 2, 3$$
 (3.18)

P=Projector on ker (δ_{tri}) and Q= Projector on ker $(\delta_{tri}^{T_X})$, where T_X denotes the transpose taken with respect to any one of the subsystems. As before we define

$$k_0 = \min \frac{Tr(Q^{T_X}\sigma)}{Tr((I-P)\sigma)}$$
(3.19)

where the minimum is taken over all separable states σ . If now we take $0 < k \leq k_0$ and use $W_{tri} = Q^{T_X} - k(I - P)$, then we obtain

$$Tr(W_{tri}\delta_{tri}) = -k < 0 \tag{3.20}$$

For the above choice of k_0 given in (3.19), we can always find some k for which $Tr(W_{tri}\sigma) \ge 0.$

Experimental Realization: Our task is now to show that our proposed witness operator can be used in an experimental setup to detect the edge state in a qutrit system. The quantity to be measured is the expectation value

$$\langle W \rangle = Tr(W\rho) \tag{3.21}$$

Here we rewrite the witness operator defined in (3.12) for a certain edge state in a qutrit system in terms of Gell-Mann matrices [BK08] and thereby finding the expectation value of these physical operators in order to experimentally detect entanglement.

The generalized Gell-Mann matrices are higher dimensional extensions of the Pauli matrices (for qubits) and are hermitian and traceless. They form an orthogonal set and basis. In particular, they can be categorized for qutrits as three different types of traceless matrices :

(i) three symmetric Gell-Mann matrices

$$\Lambda_s^{01} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Lambda_s^{02} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Lambda_s^{12} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} (3.22)$$

(ii) three antisymmetric Gell-Mann matrices

$$\Lambda_{a}^{01} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i & 0 \\ i & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Lambda_{a}^{02} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -i \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ i & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\Lambda_{a}^{12} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -i \\ 0 & i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.23)

(iii) two diagonal Gell-Mann matrices

$$\Lambda^{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Lambda^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1/\sqrt{3} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1/\sqrt{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -2/\sqrt{3} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.24)

Let us consider a qutrit described by the density operator (3.9). Our prescribed witness (3.12) for the state with $\alpha = 4$ is given in matrix form as

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -2 & 0 & 0 & -k-2 \\ 0 & 1-k & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 4-k & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 4-k & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -k-2 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1-k & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1-k & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 4-k & 0 \\ -k-2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -k-2 & 0 & 0 & k \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(3.25)$$

Writing the witness A in terms of the Gell-Mann matrices and taking the expectation value we obtain,

$$\begin{split} \langle A \rangle &= -\langle \Lambda_s^{01} \otimes \Lambda_s^{01} \rangle + \langle \Lambda_a^{01} \otimes \Lambda_a^{01} \rangle - \frac{k+2}{2} (\langle \Lambda_s^{02} \otimes \Lambda_s^{02} \rangle - \langle \Lambda_a^{02} \otimes \Lambda_a^{02} \rangle) \\ &- \frac{k+2}{2} (\langle \Lambda_s^{12} \otimes \Lambda_s^{12} \rangle - \langle \Lambda_a^{12} \otimes \Lambda_a^{12} \rangle) + \frac{2k-5}{4} \langle \Lambda^0 \otimes \Lambda^0 \rangle \\ &- \frac{9}{4\sqrt{3}} (\langle \Lambda^0 \otimes \Lambda^1 \rangle - \langle \Lambda^1 \otimes \Lambda^0 \rangle) + \frac{22k-45}{36} \langle \Lambda^1 \otimes \Lambda^1 \rangle \\ &- \frac{k}{9} (\langle \Lambda^1 \otimes I \rangle + \langle I \otimes \Lambda^1 \rangle) + \frac{15-5k}{9} \langle I \otimes I \rangle \end{split}$$
(3.26)

Thus for an experimental outcome $\langle A \rangle < 0$, the state is entangled.

For qutrits the Gell-Mann matrices can be expressed in terms of eight physical operators , the observables $S_x, S_y, S_z, S_x^2, S_y^2, S_z^2, \{S_x, S_y\}, \{S_y, S_z\}, \{S_z, S_x\}$ of a spin-1 system , where $\overrightarrow{S} = \{S_x, S_y, S_z\}$ is the spin operator and $\{S_i, S_j\} = S_i S_j + S_j S_i$ (with i, j = x, y, z) denotes the corresponding anticommutator. The representation of the Gell-Mann matrices in terms of the spin-1 operators

is as follows [BK08]:

$$\Lambda_{s}^{01} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}\hbar^{2}}(\hbar S_{x} + \{S_{z}, S_{x}\}), \qquad \Lambda_{s}^{02} = \frac{1}{\hbar^{2}}(S_{x}^{2} - S_{y}^{2}),$$

$$\Lambda_{s}^{12} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}\hbar^{2}}(\hbar S_{x} - \{S_{z}, S_{x}\}), \qquad \Lambda_{a}^{01} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}\hbar^{2}}(\hbar S_{y} + \{S_{y}, S_{z}\}),$$

$$\Lambda_{a}^{02} = \frac{1}{\hbar^{2}}\{S_{x}, S_{y}\}, \qquad \Lambda_{a}^{12} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}\hbar^{2}}(\hbar S_{y} - \{S_{y}, S_{z}\}),$$

$$\Lambda^{0} = 2I + \frac{1}{2\hbar^{2}}(\hbar S_{z} - 3S_{x}^{2} - 3S_{y}^{2}),$$

$$\Lambda^{1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(-2I + \frac{3}{2\hbar^{2}}(\hbar S_{z} + S_{x}^{2} + S_{y}^{2})) \qquad (3.27)$$

All eight physical operators can be represented by the following matrices :

$$S_{x} = \frac{\hbar}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, S_{y} = \frac{\hbar}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i & 0 \\ i & 0 & -i \\ 0 & i & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$S_{z} = \hbar \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, S_{x}^{2} = \frac{\hbar^{2}}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$S_{y}^{2} = \frac{\hbar^{2}}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 2 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \{S_{x}, S_{y}\} = \hbar^{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -i \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ i & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\{S_{y}, S_{z}\} = \frac{\hbar^{2}}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i & 0 \\ i & 0 & i \\ 0 & -i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \{S_{z}, S_{x}\} = \frac{\hbar^{2}}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.28)

Therefore experimental detection of entanglement can also be done by writing the Gell-Mann matrices in terms of spin-1 operators and then taking the expectation value.

3.5 Detection and Comparative analysis

Consider the two witness operators W^{δ} and W given in (3.3) and (3.12) respectively and let us investigate the situation when W^{δ} detects a larger set of PPT entangled state than W or vice-versa. Also we observe that

$$D_W \cap D_{W^\delta} \neq \phi \tag{3.29}$$

Equation (3.29) depicts the fact that there exist PPT entangled states which are detected by both W and W^{δ} .

Case-I: If the entanglement witness W be finer than W^{δ} then using (3.1), we can always write

$$W^{\delta} = (1 - \lambda)W + \lambda D$$

$$\Rightarrow P + Q^{T_B} - \varepsilon I = (1 - \lambda)(Q^{T_B} - k(I - P)) + \lambda D$$

$$\Rightarrow D = \frac{1 - k + \lambda k}{\lambda}P + Q^{T_B} + \frac{k - \varepsilon - \lambda k}{\lambda}I \qquad (3.30)$$

From (3.30) and using the Result-2, we get

$$1 - k + \lambda k \ge 0, \qquad k - \varepsilon - \lambda k \ge 0 \tag{3.31}$$

which gives

$$k \le \frac{1}{1-\lambda}, \qquad k \ge \frac{\varepsilon}{1-\lambda}$$
 (3.32)

Thus W is finer than W^{δ} when $k \in \left[\frac{\varepsilon}{1-\lambda}, \frac{1}{1-\lambda}\right]$.

Case-II: If the entanglement witness W^{δ} be finer than W then we can proceed in similar way as above and find that W^{δ} is finer than W when $k \in [1 - \lambda, \varepsilon - \lambda \varepsilon]$.

3.6 Examples

In this section we explicitly construct our proposed witness operator for different edge states living in $C^3 \otimes C^3$ and $C^2 \otimes C^2 \otimes C^2$ and express them in the matrix form.

Example 1: We start with the edge state in $C^3 \otimes C^3$ as proposed in [Hor97]. The state and its partial transpose is :

$$\rho_{a} = \frac{1}{8a+1} \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 & 0 & 0 & a & 0 & 0 & 0 & a \\ 0 & a & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & a & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ a & 0 & 0 & 0 & a & 0 & 0 & 0 & a \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1+a}{2} & 0 & \frac{\sqrt{1-a^{2}}}{2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & a & 0 \\ a & 0 & 0 & 0 & a & 0 & \frac{\sqrt{1-a^{2}}}{2} & 0 & \frac{1+a}{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.33)

where 0 < a < 1. The projector on the kernel of ρ_a is:

$$P = |00\rangle\langle 00| + c|00\rangle\langle 20| - |00\rangle\langle 22| + c|20\rangle\langle 00| + (3.35)$$

$$c^{2}|20\rangle\langle 20| - c|20\rangle\langle 22| - |22\rangle\langle 00| - c|22\rangle\langle 20| + |22\rangle\langle 22| + |11\rangle\langle 11| + c|11\rangle\langle 20| - |11\rangle\langle 22| + c|20\rangle\langle 11| + c^{2}|20\rangle\langle 20| - c|20\rangle\langle 22| - |22\rangle\langle 11| - c|22\rangle\langle 20| + |22\rangle\langle 22|$$

The partial transpose of the projector on the kernel of $\rho_a^{T_B}$ is:

$$Q^{T_B} = d^2 |02\rangle \langle 02| - d^2 |00\rangle \langle 22| - d|02\rangle \langle 22| - d^2 |22\rangle \langle 00|$$

$$+ d^2 |20\rangle \langle 20| + d|22\rangle \langle 20| - d|22\rangle \langle 02| + d|20\rangle \langle 22|$$

$$+ |22\rangle \langle 22| + |12\rangle \langle 12| - |11\rangle \langle 22| - |22\rangle \langle 11|$$

$$+ |21\rangle \langle 21| + |01\rangle \langle 01| - |00\rangle \langle 11| - |11\rangle \langle 00| + |10\rangle \langle 10|$$
(3.36)

where $c = \frac{\sqrt{1-a^2}}{1+a}$ and $d = \frac{\sqrt{1-a^2}}{a-1}$. Thus the witness is obtained as :

$$W = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & ck & 0 & -(d^2 + k) \\ 0 & 1 - k & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & d^2 - k & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -d \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 - k & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & ck & 0 & -1 - k \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 - k & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ ck & 0 & 0 & 0 & ck & 0 & 2c^2k + d^2 - k & 0 & d - 2ck \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 - k & 0 \\ -(d^2 + k) & 0 & -d & 0 & -1 - k & 0 & d - 2ck & 0 & 1 + k \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(3.37)$$

Using W as constructed in (3.37) we obtain,

$$Tr(W\rho_a) = -k < 0 \tag{3.38}$$

Example 2: Next we construct the witness for the edge state in 3 qubits proposed in [ABLS01]. The edge state was proposed as:

$$\delta_{tri} = \frac{1}{n} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & a & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & c & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{c} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{b} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{a} & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.39)

where n = 2 + a + b + c + 1/a + 1/b + 1/c and the basis is taken in the order $|000\rangle, |001\rangle, |010\rangle, |011\rangle, |100\rangle, |101\rangle, |110\rangle, |111\rangle$. The partial transpose with respect to system C is given by:

$$\delta_{tri}^{T_C} = \frac{1}{n} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & c & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{c} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{b} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{a} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.40)

The vector in the kernel of δ_{tri} is $|000\rangle - |111\rangle$ and the vector in the kernel of $\delta_{tri}^{T_C}$ is $|001\rangle - a|110\rangle$. With these vectors the witness (3.18) is obtained as

$$W_{tri} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -k-a \\ 0 & 1-k & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -k & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -k & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -k & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -k & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -k & 0 & 0 \\ -k-a & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.41)

which gives,

:

$$Tr(W_{tri}\delta_{tri}) = -k < 0 \tag{3.42}$$

3.7 Summary

PPT entangled states share a close proximity with separable states and thereby go unnoticed by most detection procedures. Even in the class of entanglement witnesses, not all witnesses can detect them. We need nondecomposable operators to detect them. Significantly, as entanglement witnesses are not universal in nature, what one operator detects goes undetected by another witness. Therefore, different considerations give birth to different witnesses.

In this chapter, we have prescribed a non-decomposable operator for the detection of edge states. The proposed witness operator is interesting in the sense that it conditionally detects a larger set of PPT entangled state than the non-decomposable witness operator given by Lewenstein et.al. [LKCH00]. However, the fact gets reversed under a different set of conditions. The experimental relevance of the witness further substantiates its construction.

Together as newer methods of detection arise to increasingly recognize entangled states, the geometry of the set of entangled states is also being probed upon. The set of entangled states is not convex i.e a convex combination of two entangled states might not be convex. However, some entangled states combine to form entangled states. A witness that detects the two entangled states at the endpoints might be able to detect all the states in between. This also increases by manifold the number of entangled states detected by a single witness.However, it takes some examination before we construct such common witnesses, an investigation that we report in the next chapter.

Chapter 4

Common Entanglement Witnesses

4.1 Prelude

Detection of quantum entanglement is a rigorous procedure as vindicated by the observation that the separability problem is NP-hard [Gur03]. The most involved part in any detection procedure of quantum entanglement is to have a uniform conclusive result for the set of all separable states. This is further aggravated by the complexity of the geometry of the entangled states as it is not convex. Although entanglement witnesses provide a pragmatic detection procedure for entangled states, yet its construction is a difficult task. However, several methods have been suggested in literature [GT09, HHHH09, Ter00, DPS04, SV09].

The notion of entanglement witnesses was further extended to Schmidt number witnesses [SBL01, TH00, SV11]. This is a significant approach as mixed states do not admit a unique Schmidt decomposition.Further, since Schmidt number is an indicator of the amount of entanglement present in a state, Schimdt number witnesses contribute to entanglement quantification.

Since, entanglement witnesses are not universal, one pertinent line of study

is to gauge the number of states that can be detected by a single witness. Optimization of witnesses [LKCH00] is a significant approach in this direction. However, another approach is the search for common witnesses for different entangled states. It was proved by Wu and Guo [WG07] that for a given pair of entangled states ρ_1 and ρ_2 , a common EW exists if and only if $\lambda \rho_1 + (1 - \lambda)\rho_2$ is an entangled state $\forall \lambda \in [0, 1]$. They thus arrived at a sufficient condition for entanglement for pairs of entangled states. Construction of a common entanglement witness for two entangled states not only detects them but also any state which is a convex combination of the two. Thereby one can detect a large class of entangled states if one is able to find a common EW satisfying the above criterion.

In the present chapter our motivation is to propose some methods to construct common EW for certain classes of states making use of the above condition of existence. We first propose some characteristics of common Schmidt number witnesses based on the analysis of common entanglement witnesses, providing suitable examples for our propositions. We then suggest schemes for finding common EW for various categories of states based on their spectral characteristics. The distinction between a common decomposable witness operator and a non-decomposable one is of relevance in the probe for finding common EW. A decomposable operator is unable to detect a PPTES (positive partially transposed entangled state), whereas a non-decomposable witness can successfully detect a PPTES. This distinction propagates to a common witness. Precisely, if one of the entangled states in a convex combination is a PPTES, then the common witness is non-decomposable. Our analysis makes use of some decomposable and nondecomposable witnesses. We illustrate our results through various appropriate examples from qutrit systems. The chapter is organized as follows. In section 4.2, we propose and study some features of common Schmidt number witnesses. Next, in section 4.3 we suggest methods to detect a combined pair of entangled states and construct the common EW for them. We then provide explicit examples demonstrating our methods for finding common entanglement witnesses in section 4.4. In section 4.5, we distinguish between a common decomposable and a non-decomposable witness operator citing examples. We conclude with a brief summary of our results in section 4.6.

4.2 Common Schmidt number witness

Consider the space $B(H^N \otimes H^M)$, with N < M. Define S_k to be the set of states whose Schmidt number is $\leq k$. Thus, S_1 is the set of separable states and the different states share the relation $S_1 \subset S_2 \subset S_3... \subset S_k.. \subset S_N$ and are convex[SBL01, TH00].

A k Schmidt witness $(kSW), W^S$ is defined as [SBL01, TH00, SV11]

$$Tr(W^S\sigma) \ge 0, \quad \forall \sigma \in S_{k-1}$$

$$(4.1)$$

$$Tr(W^S \rho) < 0$$
 for at least one $\rho \in S_k$ (4.2)

A well-known example of a kSW is $I - \frac{m}{k-1}P$ [SBL01] where m and k respectively denote the dimension and Schmidt number and P is a projector on $\frac{1}{\sqrt{m}}\sum_{i=0}^{m-1}|ii\rangle$.

Proposition-I: Suppose ρ_1 and ρ_2 are Schmidt number k states. If there exists a common kSW for ρ_1 and ρ_2 , then the Schmidt number of their convex combination will also be k. In other words the Schmidt number of $\lambda \rho_1 + (1 - \lambda)\rho_2$ is also k ($\lambda \in [0, 1]$).

Proof: Since ρ_1, ρ_2 are in S_k and S_k is convex, $\lambda \rho_1 + (1 - \lambda)\rho_2$ cannot have a Schmidt number > k.

Now, let W^S be the common kSW for ρ_1 and ρ_2 . As a result

$$Tr(W^{S}(\lambda\rho_{1} + (1-\lambda)\rho_{2})) = \lambda Tr(W^{S}\rho_{1}) + (1-\lambda)Tr(W^{S}\rho_{2}) < 0 \quad (4.3)$$

since $Tr(W^{S}\rho_{1}) < 0$, $Tr(W^{S}\rho_{2}) < 0$. Thus the Schmidt number of $\lambda \rho_{1} + (1-\lambda)\rho_{2}$ is also k.

Proposition-II: Suppose δ_1 and δ_2 are two states with Schmidt number (SN) k_1 and k_2 respectively where $k_1 > k_2$. Then a common witness W_k , if it exists, will be of class k, where $k \leq \min(k_1, k_2)$.

Proof: It follows from the definition of Schmidt number witness that there

exists a $k_1 SW$, W_{k_1} for which $Tr(W_{k_1}\delta_1) < 0$, but $Tr(W_{k_1}\delta_2) \ge 0$. Therefore a common witness if it exists should be of class k where $k \le min(k_1, k_2)$.

Example-I: Convex combination of two pure SN 3 states

Consider the states $|\Phi_1\rangle = a|00\rangle + b|11\rangle + \sqrt{1 - a^2 - b^2}|22\rangle$ and $|\Phi_2\rangle = x|00\rangle + y|11\rangle + \sqrt{1 - x^2 - y^2}|22\rangle$. A 3SW of the form $W^{S3} = I - \frac{3}{2}P$ detects both states for many ranges of a, b, c, x, y, z (one such range is $0.25 \le a \le 0.65, 0.25 \le b \le 0.65, 0.25 \le x \le 0.65, 0.25 \le y \le 0.65$). Therefore, for those ranges, W^{S3} is a common witness for the states $|\Phi_1\rangle$ and $|\Phi_2\rangle$ and thus their convex combination will have SN 3. (P is a projector on $\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}\sum_{i=0}^2 |ii\rangle$)

Example-II: Convex combination of a pure SN 3 state and a pure SN 2 state

Consider now the state $|\Phi_1\rangle = a|00\rangle + b|11\rangle + \sqrt{1 - a^2 - b^2}|22\rangle$ and $|\chi\rangle = t|00\rangle + \sqrt{1 - t^2}|11\rangle$. Here a 2SW of the form $W^{S2} = I - 3P$ detects both of them whereas the previous 3SW fails to qualify as a common witness.

Example-III: Convex combination of a mixed state and a pure SN 2 state

Consider the two-qutrit isotropic state $\Omega = \alpha P + \frac{1-\alpha}{9}I$ with $(-\frac{1}{8} \leq \alpha \leq 1)$. The 2SW, W^{S2} detects it $\forall 1 \geq \alpha > \frac{1}{4}$, which is exactly the range for which the isotropic state is entangled. As a result, the 2SW detects $\lambda \Omega + (1-\lambda)|\chi\rangle\langle\chi|(\lambda \in [0,1]).$

4.3 Methods to construct common entanglement witness

Case-I: Let us consider that the two states described by the density operators ρ_1 and ρ_2 be negative partial transpose (NPT) states. Let us further assume that the two sets S_1 and S_2 consist of the set of all eigenvectors of $\rho_1^{T_A}$ and $\rho_2^{T_A}$ corresponding to their negative eigenvalues. In set builder notation, S_1 and S_2 can be expressed as $S_1 = \{|x\rangle : \rho_1^{T_A}|x\rangle =$ $\lambda_{-}|x\rangle$, λ_{-} is a negative eigenvalue of $\rho_{1}^{T_{A}}$ and $S_{2} = \{|y\rangle : \rho_{2}^{T_{A}}|y\rangle = \alpha_{-}|y\rangle$, α_{-} is a negative eigenvalue of $\rho_{2}^{T_{A}}$. Now we propose the following theorem:

Theorem 4.1. If $S_1 \cap S_2 \neq \phi$, then there exists a common witness detecting not only ρ_1 and ρ_2 both but also all the states lying on the straight line joining ρ_1 and ρ_2

Proof: Let $S_1 \cap S_2 \neq \phi$. Then there exists a non-zero vector $|\eta\rangle \in S_1 \cap S_2$. Let $W = (|\eta\rangle\langle\eta|)^{T_A}$. This gives

$$Tr(W\rho_1) = Tr((|\eta\rangle\langle\eta|)^{T_A}\rho_1) = Tr((|\eta\rangle\langle\eta|)\rho_1^{T_A}) < 0$$
(4.4)

With similar justifications,

$$Tr(W\rho_2) < 0 \tag{4.5}$$

If now we consider $\rho = \lambda \rho_1 + (1 - \lambda)\rho_2, \lambda \in [0, 1]$, then $Tr(W\rho) < 0$. Hence the theorem.

Case-II: Let δ_1 and δ_2 be two edge states. We know that a witness operator of the form $W_{edge} = P + Q^{T_A} - \varepsilon I$ can detect an edge state δ if P is a projector on ker(δ) and Q a projector on ker(δ^{T_A}) and $0 < \varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0 = inf_{|e,f\rangle} \langle e, f|P + Q^{T_A}|e, f\rangle$ where $|e, f\rangle$ is a product vector [LKCH00]. Thus we propose:

Theorem 4.2. W_{edge} can detect both δ_1 and δ_2 if $dim(ker(\delta_1) \cap ker(\delta_2)) > 0$ or $dim(ker(\delta_1^{T_A}) \cap ker(\delta_2^{T_A})) > 0$.

Proof: Let $\dim(\ker(\delta_1) \cap \ker(\delta_2)) > 0$, i.e., there exists at least one nonzero eigenvector $|a\rangle \in \ker(\delta_1) \cap \ker(\delta_2)$. We assume $P = |a\rangle\langle a|$. Further, let $\dim(\ker(\delta_1^{T_A}) \cap \ker(\delta_2^{T_A})) > 0$. We take $|b\rangle \in \ker(\delta_1^{T_A}) \cap \ker(\delta_2^{T_A})$. Assume $Q = (|b\rangle\langle b|)^{T_A}$. On taking $W_{edge} = P + Q^{T_A} - \varepsilon I$ with the above mentioned definition of ε , we obtain

$$Tr(W_{edge}\delta_1) < 0 \quad \text{and} \quad Tr(W_{edge}\delta_2) < 0$$

$$(4.6)$$

Consequently, W_{edge} detects $\delta = \lambda \delta_1 + (1 - \lambda) \delta_2$ for $0 \le \lambda \le 1$ since

$$Tr(W_{edge}\delta) = Tr(W_{edge}(\lambda\delta_1 + (1-\lambda)\delta_2)) < 0$$
(4.7)

Thus W_{edge} is a common witness for δ_1 and δ_2 and detects any convex combination of δ_1 and δ_2 .

Case-III: Let δ_{tri}^1 and δ_{tri}^2 be two tripartite edge states. Using (3.18) we have the following theorem:

Theorem 4.3. The witness W_{tri} can detect both the tripartite edge states δ^1_{tri} and δ^2_{tri} if $\dim(\ker(\delta^1_{tri}) \cap \ker(\delta^2_{tri})) > 0$ or $\dim(\ker((\delta^1_{tri})^{T_X}) \cap \ker((\delta^2_{tri})^{T_X})) > 0$. Here T_X represents the transposition with respect to any one of the subsystems.

Proof: Proof is similar to Theorem 4.2.

4.4 Examples from Qutrit systems

Here, we exemplify the methods to find common entanglement witnesses as laid down in section 4.3 for the different classifications.

Example 1: Let us consider the following states in $C^3 \otimes C^3$: $\rho_1 = |\psi_1\rangle\langle\psi_1|$ and $\rho_2 = |\psi_2\rangle\langle\psi_2|$, where $|\psi_1\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|00\rangle + |11\rangle)$ and $|\psi_2\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(|00\rangle + |11\rangle + |22\rangle)$. On observation we find an eigenvector $|e_-\rangle = |01\rangle - |10\rangle$ common to $\rho_1^{T_A}$ and $\rho_2^{T_A}$ corresponding to their respective negative eigenvalues. On defining $U = |e_-\rangle\langle e_-|$ and $W = U^{T_A}$, we obtain $Tr(W\rho_1) < 0$ and $Tr(W\rho_2) < 0$. Therefore, W is a common witness to the entanglement in ρ_1 and ρ_2 . Hence we can conclude that $\rho = \lambda\rho_1 + (1 - \lambda)\rho_2$ is entangled for all $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ and can be detected by W.

Example 2: The following family of edge states in $C^2 \otimes C^4$ was introduced in [AGKL10].

$$\tau(b,s) = \frac{1}{2(2+b+b^{-1})} \begin{pmatrix} b & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b^{-1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & s & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & b^{-1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & s \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.8)
$$(\tau(b,s))^{T_A} = \frac{1}{2(2+b+b^{-1})} \begin{pmatrix} b & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & s \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b^{-1} & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b^{-1} & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & b^{-1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & b^{-1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & b^{-1} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & b \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.9)

where 0 < b < 1 and |s| < b. We consider $\delta_1 = \tau(0.4, 0)$ and $\delta_2 = \tau(0.5, 0)$. It is observed that the eigenvector $|01\rangle + |12\rangle \in ker(\delta_1) \cap ker(\delta_2)$. Further, the eigenvector $|03\rangle + |12\rangle$ and $|01\rangle + |10\rangle$ lies in $ker(\delta_1^{T_A}) \cap ker(\delta_2^{T_A})$. Taking the projectors as defined in Theorem 4.2, we obtain the witness

$$W_{edge} = \begin{pmatrix} -\varepsilon & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\varepsilon + 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon + 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon + 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon + 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -\varepsilon \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.10)

This gives $Tr(W_{edge}\delta_1) < 0$ and $Tr(W_{edge}\delta_2) < 0$. Thus, W_{edge} is a common witness and also detects the class of states $\delta = \lambda \delta_1 + (1 - \lambda) \delta_2, 0 \le \lambda \le 1$. **Example 3:** We consider the following class of tripartite edge states as proposed in [ABLS01]:

$$\delta_{tri}(a,b,c) = \frac{1}{n} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & a & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & c & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{c} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{b} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{a} & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.11)

where n = 2 + a + b + c + 1/a + 1/b + 1/c and the basis is taken in the order $|000\rangle, |001\rangle, |010\rangle, |011\rangle, |100\rangle, |101\rangle, |110\rangle, |111\rangle$. The partial transpose with respect to system C is given by

$$\delta_{tri}^{T_C}(a,b,c) = \frac{1}{n} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & c & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{c} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{b} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{1}{a} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.12)

Next we take the edge states $\delta_{tri}^1 = \delta_{tri}(1,1,1)$ and $\delta_{tri}^2 = \delta_{tri}(1,2,2)$. It is observed that $|111\rangle - |000\rangle \in \ker(\delta_{tri}^1) \cap \ker(\delta_{tri}^2)$ and $|110\rangle - |001\rangle \in$

 $\operatorname{ker}((\delta_{tri}^1)^{T_C}) \cap \operatorname{ker}((\delta_{tri}^2)^{T_C})$. The witness obtained is

$$W_{tri} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -k-1 \\ 0 & 1-k & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -k & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -k & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -k & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -k & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -k & 0 & 0 \\ -k-1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.13)

It is found that W_{tri} detects both δ^1_{tri} and δ^2_{tri} , thus detecting the states $\delta^{12}_{tri} = \lambda \delta^1_{tri} + (1-\lambda) \delta^2_{tri}, \forall \lambda \in [0, 1].$

4.5 Common decomposable and non-decomposable witness operators

Central to the idea of the detection of a PPTES is a non-decomposable witness which can successfully identify a PPTES in contrast to a decomposable witness which fails in this purpose. If we are given two states described by the density operators Δ_1 and Δ_2 then we can construct a witness operator common not only to the states Δ_1 and Δ_2 but also to the states lying on the straight line joining Δ_1 and Δ_2 . Naturally, the next question is, as to whether the common witness operator is decomposable or non-decomposable. The answer lies in the nature of the states Δ_1 and Δ_2 . The decomposable or non-decomposable nature of the common witness operator depends on the PPT or NPT nature of the states Δ_1 and Δ_2 . Let us suppose that Δ_1 and Δ_2 are two entangled states. Now if we consider the convex combination of Δ_1 and Δ_2 , i.e., $\Delta = \lambda \Delta_1 + (1 - \lambda) \Delta_2$, $0 \le \lambda \le 1$, then the common decomposable witness operator and common non-decomposable witness operator can be seen as: **Common decomposable witness operator:** If both Δ_1 and Δ_2 are NPT then a decomposable operator is enough to qualify as a common witness.

Common non-decomposable witness operator: If either Δ_1 or Δ_2 or both are PPT then the common witness operator is non-decomposable.

Note that if Δ_1 is PPT and Δ_2 is NPT, or vice-versa, then the state Δ may be NPT and it may be detected by a decomposable witness operator, but such a witness operator will not be common to Δ_1 and Δ_2 , because either Δ_1 or Δ_2 is PPT, and a PPT entangled state cannot be detected by a decomposable witness operator. Let us understand the above defined common decomposable and common non-decomposable witness operators by considering the following two cases: (i) convex combination of a class of PPT entangled state and a class of NPT pure entangled state and (ii) convex combination of a class of PPT entangled state and a class of NPT mixed entangled state.

Case-I: Convex combination of a class of PPT entangled state and a class of NPT pure entangled state

Let us consider a class of PPT entangled state [HHH99b]

$$\rho_1^e = \frac{2}{7} |\psi^+\rangle \langle \psi^+| + \frac{\alpha}{7} \varrho_+ + \frac{5-\alpha}{7} \varrho_-, \quad 3 < \alpha \le 4$$
(4.14)

where $|\psi^+\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(|00\rangle + |11\rangle + |22\rangle)$, $\varrho_+ = \frac{1}{3}(|01\rangle\langle 01| + |12\rangle\langle 12| + |20\rangle\langle 20|)$ and $\varrho_- = \frac{1}{3}(|10\rangle\langle 10| + |21\rangle\langle 21| + |02\rangle\langle 02|)$. Further let us consider a pure entangled state which is described by the density operator

$$\rho_2^e = \beta |00\rangle \langle 00| + \beta \sqrt{1 - \beta^2} |00\rangle \langle 11| + \beta \sqrt{1 - \beta^2} |11\rangle \langle 00| + (1 - \beta^2) |11\rangle \langle 11| \quad (4.15)$$

The convex combination of the above two states can be described by the density operator

$$\rho^e = \lambda \rho_1^e + (1 - \lambda)\rho_2^e, 0 \le \lambda \le 1 \tag{4.16}$$

Enumerating the eigenvalues of the partial transpose of the state (4.16) it is

Sl. No.	λ	α	β	Nature of ρ^e
1	$0 \le \lambda < 0.75$	$3 < \alpha \le 3.9$	$0.07 < \beta \leq 0.99$	$(\rho^e)^{T_B} < 0$
2	$0.75 \le \lambda \le 1$	$3 < \alpha \le 3.9$	$0 \leq \beta \leq 0.01$	$(\rho^e)^{T_B} \ge 0$

observed that the state has the following characterization:

Since the state ρ^e is free entangled for the range of three parameters $0 \le \lambda < 0.75$, $3 < \alpha \le 3.9$, $0.07 < \beta \le 0.99$, so a decomposable witness operator is sufficient to detect it and it is given by

$$W^d = (|\chi\rangle\langle\chi|)^{T_B} \tag{4.17}$$

where $|\chi\rangle$ is an eigenvector corresponding to a negative eigenvalue of the state $(\rho^e)^{T_B}$. The witness operator W^d detects ρ^e as well as the state ρ_2^e , but it fails to detect ρ_1^e , as ρ_1^e is PPT and W^d is decomposable. So, in this case we are not able to construct a common decomposable witness operator. However, we can construct a non-decomposable witness operator in the form

$$W^{nd} = |\phi\rangle\langle\phi| - \varepsilon I \tag{4.18}$$

where $|\phi\rangle \in ker(\rho^e)$. With this selection, we obtain

$$Tr(W^{nd}\rho^e) = -\varepsilon < 0, \ Tr(W^{nd}\rho_1^e) = -\varepsilon < 0, \ Tr(W^{nd}\rho_2^e) = -\varepsilon < 0 \ (4.19)$$

The above non-decomposable witness operator W^{nd} not only detects ρ_2^e but also detects ρ_1^e , and thus, it is a common non-decomposable witness operator. Let us now consider the case when $(\rho^e)^{T_B} \ge 0$ for $0.75 \le \lambda \le 1, 3 < \alpha \le 3.9,$ $0 \le \beta \le 0.01$. As $\beta \to 0$, the state ρ_2^e approaches the separable projector $|11\rangle\langle 11|$. Consequently, the convex combination of ρ_1^e and ρ_2^e is PPT. Thus in this scenario, we can conclude that either all the states lying on the straight line joining ρ_1^e and the projector $|11\rangle\langle 11|$ are separable, or we are incapable of detecting the most weak bound entangled state.

Case-II: Convex combination of a class of PPT entangled state and a class of NPT mixed entangled state Let us consider a class of PPT entangled mixed state and a class of NPT entangled mixed state which are described by the density operators[HHH99b]

$$\Upsilon_1 = \frac{2}{7} |\psi^+\rangle \langle \psi^+| + \frac{\alpha}{7} \varrho_+ + \frac{5-\alpha}{7} \varrho_- \quad (3 < \alpha \le 4)$$
(4.20)

and

$$\Upsilon_2 = \frac{2}{7} |\psi^+\rangle \langle \psi^+| + \frac{\gamma}{7} \varrho_+ + \frac{5-\gamma}{7} \varrho_- \quad (4 < \gamma \le 5)$$
(4.21)

respectively. The convex combination of the states Υ_1 and Υ_2 is given by

$$\Upsilon = \lambda \Upsilon_1 + (1 - \lambda) \Upsilon_2 \quad (0 \le \lambda \le 1)$$
(4.22)

The nature of the resultant state described by the density operator Υ depends on the values of the mixing parameter λ and the other two parameters α and γ , as is given in the table below:

Sl. No.	α	γ	λ	Nature of Υ
1	$3 < \alpha \leq 4$	$4 < \gamma \leq 5$	$0 \le \lambda < \frac{\gamma - 4}{\gamma - \alpha}$	$\Upsilon^{T_B} < 0$
2	$3 < \alpha < 4$	$4 < \gamma \leq 5$	$\frac{\gamma - 4}{\gamma - \alpha} \le \lambda \le 1$	$\Upsilon^{T_B} \ge 0$
3	$\alpha = 4$	$4 < \gamma \leq 5$	$\lambda = 1$	$\Upsilon^{T_B} \ge 0$

The state Υ is NPT for the range of parameters $3 < \alpha \leq 4, 4 < \gamma \leq 5, 0 \leq \lambda < \frac{\gamma-4}{\gamma-\alpha}$, and in this case the common witness operator is a nondecomposable witness which detects Υ , Υ_1 and Υ_2 , whereas a decomposable witness fails to detect all the three simultaneously. However, in the remaining two cases where the ranges of three parameters are given by $3 < \alpha < 4, 4 < \gamma \leq 5, \frac{\gamma-4}{\gamma-\alpha} \leq \lambda \leq 1$ and $\alpha = 4, 4 < \gamma \leq 5, \lambda = 1$, we find that the vectors $|v_1\rangle = |11\rangle - |00\rangle \in ker(\Upsilon_1) \cap ker(\Upsilon_2)$ and $|v_2\rangle = |22\rangle - |00\rangle \in ker(\Upsilon_1) \cap ker(\Upsilon_2)$. In this scenario, a non-decomposable witness operator can be constructed, which detects both Υ_1 , Υ_2 and hence Υ . Such a nondecomposable witness operator is of the form

$$\Gamma = P - \varepsilon I \tag{4.23}$$

where $P = |v_1\rangle \langle v_1| + |v_2\rangle \langle v_2|$, and $0 < \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0 = inf_{|e,f\rangle} \langle e, f|P|e, f\rangle$.

4.6 Summary

To summarize, in this chapter we have investigated the conditions for the existence of common Schmidt number and entanglement witnesses, and proposed methods for the construction of common witness operators. Common entanglement witnesses for pairs of entangled states enable us to detect a large class of entangled states, *viz.*, when a common witness exists for two states, it enables us to detect all states lying on the line segment joining the two. Certain characteristics of the states help us to construct the common witnesses which we have discussed here. We have considered a few interesting examples of states presented earlier in the literature in the context of entanglement witnesses, and these illustrations from qutrit systems buttress our claim of suggesting schemes for finding common witnesses.

Before concluding, let us discuss a couple of relevant issues. First, regarding the non-decomposable witness of the form $P + Q^{T_A} - \varepsilon I$, a method was proposed in [Ter01] to obtain an analytic lower bound of ε and relevant bounds were obtained for some special states which possessed high degrees of symmetry. However the procedure becomes cumbersome when the sets concerned contain few symmetries and also in high dimensions[Ter01]. It was stated in [HMABM04], that the calculation of ε would require a multivariable minimization routine. The value of ε was calculated numerically in [GHB⁺03], albeit for some special states where the discussion was on the measurability of some witness operators. However, the purpose of the present chapter is to present an analytic description of common entanglement witnesses when detection of many entangled states by the same operator is concerned. In the example, we have used the definition of ε as was provided in [LKCH00]. The definition of edge states ensures that $\varepsilon > 0$, hence an expectation value $-\varepsilon$ indicates the presence of entanglement. Thus the positivity of ε is enough to accentuate the aforesaid detection. Secondly, one may also note that Theorem 4.1 can be extended for three or more states, viz., a common witness will exist for three states if there is a common eigenvector corresponding to the negative eigenvalues of their partial transposes.

Finally, our study also shows that the nature of the common witness is significantly dictated by the positivity of the partial transpose of the two states. Specifically, a decomposable witness can never qualify to be a common witness if one of the states is PPTES. Thus, we demarcate between a common decomposable and a nondecomposable witness. In our analysis of common Schmidt number witnesses we find that if the two states are both of SN kand a common SN witness exists for them, then the convex combination will be of SN k. We conclude by noting that an interesting question for further study could be to find whether the converse of the above statement is true. The study on entanglement witnesses was initially motivated by the quest to demarcate entangled states from the separable ones. Although entanglement has been recognized as a major resource in quantum information processing tasks yet not all entangled states are eligible for the same. This further motivates the search for useful entangled states, an investigation that we report in the next chapter pertaining to a quintessential quantum information processing task namely Teleportation.

Chapter 5

Witness operator for Quantum Teleportation

5.1 Prelude

Quantum information processing is now widely recognized as a powerful tool for implementing tasks that cannot be performed using classical means [NC10]. A large number of algorithms for various information processing tasks such as super dense coding[BW92], teleportation [BBC⁺93] and key generation [Eke91] have been proposed and experimentally demonstrated. At the practical level information processing is implemented by manipulating states of quantum particles, and it is well known that not all quantum states can be used for such purposes. Hence, given an unknown state, one of the most relevant issues here is to determine whether it is useful for quantum information processing.

The key ingredient for performing many information processing tasks is provided by quantum entanglement. Detection of entanglement is facilitated by entanglement witnesses. However, entanglement witnesses has moved beyond the realm of mere detection of entanglement. Since, the notion of entanglement witnesses arose of separation axioms , they can be also put to use to

distinguish special entangled states for information processing tasks. Teleportation [BBC⁺93] is a typical information processing task where at present there is intense activity in extending the experimental frontiers [BPM⁺97, OMM⁺09, JRY⁺10]. However, it is well known that not all entangled states are useful for teleportation. For example, while the entangled Werner state [Wer89b] in $2 \otimes 2$ dimensions is a useful resource [LK00], another class of maximally entangled mixed states [MJWK01], as well as other non-maximally entangled mixed states achieve a fidelity higher than the classical limit only when their magnitude of entanglement exceeds a certain value $[AMR^+10]$. The problem of determining states useful for teleportation becomes conceptually more involved in higher dimensions where bound entangled states [Hor97, HHH98] also exist. The motivation for this study is to enquire how to determine whether an unknown entangled state could be used as a resource for performing information processing tasks. In the present chapter we consider this question for the specific task of quantum teleportation. We propose and demonstrate the existence of measurable witness operators connected to teleportation, by making use of a property of entangled states, viz, the fully entangled fraction (FEF) [BDSW96, HHH99a] which can be related to the efficacy of teleportation. In spite of the conceptual relevance of the FEF as a characteristic trait of entangled states [VJN00], its actual determination could be complicated for higher dimensional systems [ZLFW10]. Our proof of the existence of witnesses connected to a relevant threshold value for the FEF enables us to construct a suitable witness operator for teleportation, as is illustrated with certain examples.

The chapter discusses the existence of hermitian operators for teleportation in section 5.2 followed by the proposition of such a witness in $d \otimes d$ dimensions in 5.3. The chapter ends with suitable examples depicting the utility of the proposed operator in various dimensions and speculations on future directions of work.

5.2 **Proof of existence of witness**

The fully entangled fraction (FEF) [HHH99a] is defined for a bipartite state ρ in $d \otimes d$ dimensions as

$$F(\rho) = max_U \langle \psi^+ | U^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho U \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$$
(5.1)

where $|\psi^+\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d}} \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} |ii\rangle$ and U is a unitary operator. A quantum channel is useful for teleportation if it can provide a fidelity higher than what can be done classically. The fidelity depends on the FEF of the state, e.g., a state in $d \otimes d$ dimensions works as a teleportation channel if its FEF > $\frac{1}{d}$ [HHH99a, VJN00, ZLFW10].

Here we propose the existence of a hermitian operator which serves to distinguish between states having FEF higher than a given threshold value from other states. FEF > $\frac{1}{d}$ is a benchmark which measures the viability of quantum states in teleportation. Let us consider the set S of states having FEF $\leq \frac{1}{d}$. A special geometric form of the Hahn-Banach theorem in functional analysis [Hol75] states that if a set is convex and compact, then a point lying outside the set can be separated from it by a hyperplane. The existence of entanglement witnesses are indeed also an outcome of this theorem [HHH96, Ter00]. We now present the proof that the set S of states with FEF $\leq \frac{1}{d}$ is indeed convex and compact, so that the separation axiom in the form of the Hahn-Banach theorem could be applied in order to demonstrate the existence of hermitian witness operators for teleportation.

Theorem 5.1. The set $S = \{\rho : F(\rho) \leq \frac{1}{d}\}$ is convex and compact.

Proof: The proof is done in two steps. (i) We first show that S is convex. Let $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in S$. Therefore,

$$F(\rho_1) \le \frac{1}{d}, \quad F(\rho_2) \le \frac{1}{d}.$$
 (5.2)

Consider $\rho_c = \lambda \rho_1 + (1 - \lambda) \rho_2$, where $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ and $F(\rho_c) = \langle \psi^+ | U_c^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_c U_c \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$. $I | \psi^+ \rangle$. Now, $F(\rho_c) = \lambda \langle \psi^+ | U_c^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_1 U_c \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle + (1 - \lambda) \langle \psi^+ | U_c^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_2 U_c \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$. Let $F(\rho_i) = \langle \psi^+ | U_i^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_i U_i \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$, (i = 1, 2). This is possible since the group of unitary matrices is compact, hence the maximum will be attained for a unitary matrix U. It follows that $F(\rho_c) \leq \lambda F(\rho_1) + (1-\lambda)F(\rho_2)$. Using Eq.(5.2) we have

$$F(\rho_c) \le \frac{1}{d} \tag{5.3}$$

Thus, ρ_c lies in S, and hence, S is convex.

(ii) We now show that S is compact. Note that in a finite dimensional Hilbert space, in order to show that a set is compact it is enough to show that the set is closed and bounded. The set S is bounded as every density matrix has a bounded spectrum, i.e., eigenvalues lying between 0 and 1. In order to prove that the set S is closed, consider first the following lemma. Lemma: Let A and B be two matrices of size $m \times n$ and $n \times r$ respectively. Then $||AB|| \leq ||A|| ||B||$, where the norm of a matrix A is defined as $||A|| = \sqrt{TrA^{\dagger}A} = \sqrt{\sum_{i} \sum_{j} |A_{ij}|^2}$.

Proof of the lemma: Let
$$A = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 \\ A_2 \\ . \\ . \\ A_m \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $B = [B^{(1)}B^{(2)}...B^{(r)}]$, where A_i 's

are row vectors of size n and $B^{(j)}$'s are column vectors of size n respectively. Using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, it follows that $|(AB)_{ij}| = |A_i B^{(j)}| \le ||A_i|| ||B^{(j)}||$. Therefore, one has

$$||AB||^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{r} |(AB)_{ij}|^{2} \le \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{r} ||A_{i}||^{2} ||B^{(j)}||^{2}$$
(5.4)

The r.h.s of the above inequality can be expressed as $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \|A_i\|^2 \sum_{j=1}^{r} \|B^{(j)}\|^2 = \|A\|^2 \|B\|^2$, from which it follows that $\|AB\| \leq \|A\| \|B\|$.

For any two density matrices ρ_a and ρ_b , assume the maximum value of FEF is obtained at U_a and U_b respectively, i.e., $F(\rho_a) = \langle \psi^+ | U_a^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_a U_a \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$ and $F(\rho_b) = \langle \psi^+ | U_b^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_b U_b \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$. Therefore, we have $F(\rho_a) - F(\rho_b) = \langle \psi^+ | U_a^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_a U_a \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle - \langle \psi^+ | U_b^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_b U_b \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$ from which it follows
that $F(\rho_a) - F(\rho_b) \leq \langle \psi^+ | U_a^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_a U_a \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle - \langle \psi^+ | U_a^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_b U_a \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$ since $\langle \psi^+ | U_a^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_b U_a \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle \leq \langle \psi^+ | U_b^{\dagger} \otimes I \rho_b U_b \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$. Hence, $F(\rho_a) - F(\rho_b) \leq \langle \psi^+ | U_a^{\dagger} \otimes I (\rho_a - \rho_b) U_a \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$, implying

$$F(\rho_a) - F(\rho_b) \le |\langle \psi^+ | U_a^\dagger \otimes I(\rho_a - \rho_b) U_a \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle|.$$
(5.5)

Now, using the above lemma, one gets $F(\rho_a) - F(\rho_b) \leq ||\langle \psi^+||| ||U_a^{\dagger} \otimes I|| ||(\rho_a - \rho_b)|| ||U_a \otimes I|| ||\psi^+\rangle||$, or $F(\rho_a) - F(\rho_b) \leq C^2 K_1^2 ||\rho_a - \rho_b||$, where C, K_1 are positive real numbers. The last step follows from the fact that $||\langle \psi^+||| = C$. Since the set of all unitary operators is compact, it is bounded, and thus for any U, $||U \otimes I|| \leq K_1$. Similarly $F(\rho_b) - F(\rho_a) \leq C^2 K_1^2 ||\rho_b - \rho_a|| = C^2 K_1^2 ||\rho_a - \rho_b||$. So finally, one may write

$$|F(\rho_a) - F(\rho_b)| \le C^2 K_1^2 ||\rho_a - \rho_b||.$$
(5.6)

This implies that F is a continuous function. Moreover, for any density matrix ρ , with $F(\rho) \in [\frac{1}{d^2}, 1]$, one has $F(\rho) = 1$ iff ρ is a maximally entangled pure state, and $F(\rho) = \frac{1}{d^2}$ iff ρ is the maximally mixed state [ZLFW10]. For the set S in our consideration $F(\rho) \in [\frac{1}{d^2}, \frac{1}{d}]$. Hence, $S = \{\rho : F(\rho) \leq \frac{1}{d}\} =$ $F^{-1}([\frac{1}{d^2}, \frac{1}{d}])$, is closed [Rud64]. This completes the proof of our proposition that the set $S = \{\rho : F(\rho) \leq \frac{1}{d}\}$ is convex and compact.

It now follows from the Hahn-Banach theorem [Hol75], that any $\chi \notin S$ can be separated from S by a hyperplane. In other words, any state useful for teleportation can be separated from the states not useful for teleportation by a hyperplane and thus allows for the definition of a witness. The witness operator, if so defined, identifies the states which are useful in the teleportation protocol, i.e., provides a fidelity higher than the classical optimum.

5.3 A witness operator for teleportation

A hermitian operator W may be called a teleportation witness if the following conditions are satisfied: (i) $Tr(W\sigma) \ge 0$, for all states σ which are not useful



Figure 5.1: The set $S = \{\rho : F(\rho) \leq \frac{1}{d}\}$ is convex and compact, and using the Hahn-Banach theorem it follows that any state useful for teleportation can be separated from the states not useful for teleportation by a hyperplane, thus providing for the existence of a witness for teleportation.

for teleportation. (ii) $Tr(W\chi) < 0$, for at least one state χ which is useful for teleportation. We propose a hermitian operator for a $d \otimes d$ system of the form (using $|\psi^+\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d}} \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} |ii\rangle$)

$$W = \frac{1}{d}I - |\psi^+\rangle\langle\psi^+| \tag{5.7}$$

In order to prove that W is indeed a witness operator, we first show that the operator W gives a non-negative expectation over all states which are not useful for teleportation. Let σ be an arbitrary state chosen from the set S not useful for teleportation, i.e., $\sigma \in S$. Hence,

$$Tr(W\sigma) = \frac{1}{d} - \langle \psi^+ | \sigma | \psi^+ \rangle \tag{5.8}$$

from which it follows that $Tr(W\sigma) \geq \frac{1}{d} - max_U \langle \psi^+ | U^{\dagger} \otimes I\sigma U \otimes I | \psi^+ \rangle$. Now, using the definition of the FEF, $F(\sigma)$ from Eq.(5.1), and the fact that $\sigma \in S$,

one gets

$$Tr(W\sigma) \ge 0 \tag{5.9}$$

Our task now is to show that the operator W detects at least one entangled state χ which is useful for teleportation, i.e., $Tr(W\chi) < 0$, which we do by providing the following illustrations.

Let us first consider the isotropic state

$$\chi_{\beta} = \beta |\psi^{+}\rangle \langle \psi^{+}| + \frac{1 - \beta}{d^{2}} I \qquad (-\frac{1}{d^{2} - 1} \le \beta \le 1) \qquad (5.10)$$

The isotropic state is entangled $\forall \beta > \frac{1}{d+1}$ [BDHK05]. Now, $Tr(W\chi_{\beta}) = \frac{(d-1)(1-\beta(d+1))}{d^2}$, from which it follows that $Tr(W\chi_{\beta}) < 0$, when $\beta > \frac{1}{d+1}$. Therefore, all entangled isotropic states are useful for teleportation. The same conclusion was obtained in [ZLFW10] on explicit calculation of the FEF for isotropic states. We next consider the generalized Werner state [Wer89b, PR00, DC09] in $d \otimes d$ given by

$$\chi_{wer} = (1-v)\frac{I}{d^2} + v|\psi_d\rangle\langle\psi_d|$$
(5.11)

where $0 \leq v \leq 1$ and $|\psi_d\rangle = \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} \alpha_i |ii\rangle$, with $\sum_i |\alpha_i|^2 = 1$, for which one obtains $Tr(W\chi_{wer}) = \frac{1}{d} - \frac{1-v}{d^2} - \frac{v}{d} \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} \alpha_i \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} \alpha_i^*$. The witness W detects those Werner states which are useful for teleportation, i.e., $Tr(W\chi_{wer}) < 0$, which is the case when

$$\frac{1}{d} - \frac{1-v}{d^2} - \frac{v}{d} \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} \alpha_i \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} \alpha_i^* < 0$$
(5.12)

In 2 \otimes 2 dimensions with $\alpha_i = 1/\sqrt{2}$, one gets $Tr(W\chi_{wer}) = \frac{1-3v}{4} < 0$, when $v > \frac{1}{3}$. Thus, all entangled Werner states are useful for teleportation, a result which is well-known [LK00].

Now, consider another class of maximally entangled mixed states in $2 \otimes 2$ dimensions, which possess the maximum amount of entanglement for a given

purity [MJWK01]:

$$\chi_{MEMS} = \begin{pmatrix} h(C) & 0 & 0 & C/2 \\ 0 & 1 - 2h(C) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ C/2 & 0 & 0 & h(C) \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.13)

where, h(C) = C/2 for $C \ge 2/3$, and h(C) = 1/3 for C < 2/3, with Cthe concurrence of χ_{MEMS} . Here we obtain $Tr(W\chi_{MEMS}) = \frac{1}{2} - h(C) - \frac{C}{2}$. For $C > \frac{1}{3}$, the state χ_{MEMS} is suitable for teleportation, as one obtains $Tr(W\chi_{MEMS}) < 0$ in this case, confirming the results derived earlier in the literature [AMR⁺10]. However, as expected with any witness, our proposed witness operator may fail to identify certain other states that are known to be useful for teleportation. For example, the state (for $|\phi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|01\rangle + |10\rangle)$ and $0 \le a \le 1$)

$$\rho_{\phi} = a |\phi\rangle \langle \phi| + (1-a)|11\rangle \langle 11| \tag{5.14}$$

was recently studied in the context of quantum discord [ARA10]. This class of states is useful for teleportation but the witness W is unable to detect it as $Tr(W\rho_{\phi}) = \frac{a}{2} \ge 0$.

Let us now briefly discuss the measurability of the witness operator. For experimental realization of the witness it is necessary to decompose the witness into operators that can be measured locally, i.e, a decomposition into projectors of the form $W = \sum_{i=1}^{k} c_i |e_i\rangle \langle e_i| \otimes |f_i\rangle \langle f_i|$ [GT09, GHB⁺03]. For implementation using polarized photons as in [BDMDN⁺03], one may take $|H\rangle = |0\rangle, |V\rangle = |1\rangle, |D\rangle = \frac{|H\rangle + |V\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}, |F\rangle = \frac{|H\rangle - |V\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}, |L\rangle = \frac{|H\rangle + i|V\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}, |R\rangle = \frac{|H\rangle - i|V\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$ as the horizontal, vertical, diagonal, and the left and right circular polarization states, respectively. Using a result given in [Hyl05], our witness operator can be recast for qubits into the required form, given by

$$W = \frac{1}{2} (|HV\rangle\langle HV| + |VH\rangle\langle VH| - |DD\rangle\langle DD| - |FF\rangle\langle FF| + |LL\rangle\langle LL| + |RR\rangle\langle RR|)$$
(5.15)

Using this technique for an unknown two-qubit state χ , the estimation of

 $\langle W \rangle$ requires three measurements [Hyl05], as is also evident from the decomposition of our witness operator for qubits in terms of Pauli spin matrices, i.e., $W = \frac{1}{4}[I \otimes I - \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_x + \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y - \sigma_z \otimes \sigma_z]$, which is far less than the measurement of 15 parameters required for full state tomography[JKMW01]. In higher dimensions, the witness operator may be decomposed in terms of Gell-Mann matrices [BK08], and this difference further increases with the increase in dimensions. Therefore, the utility of the witness operator is indicated as compared to full state tomography when discrimination of useful entangled states for performing teleportation is required.

Before concluding, it may be noted that it is possible to relate the FEF (5.1) with the maximum fidelity for other information processing tasks, such as super dense coding and entanglement swapping [GEJ02]. In the generalized dense coding for $d \otimes d$ systems, one can use a maximally entangled state $|\phi\rangle$ to encode $d^2/2$ bits in d^2 orthogonal states $(I \otimes U_i)|\phi\rangle$ [LLTL02]. If the maximally entangled state is replaced with a general density operator, the dense coding fidelity is defined as an average over the d^2 results. A relation between the maximum fidelity F_{DC}^{max} of dense coding and the FEF was established for $d \otimes d$ systems to be $F_{DC}^{max} = F$. Similarly, for two-qubit systems the maximum fidelity of entanglement swapping[ZZHE93] F_{ES}^{max} is also related to the FEF by $F_{ES}^{max} = F$ [GEJ02]. However, teleportation is a different information processing task as compared to dense coding where F > 1/d does not guarantee a higher than classical fidelity [BDL+04]. Hence, it is not possible to apply the above witness (5.7) to super dense coding and entanglement swapping.

5.4 Summary

To summarize, in this chapter we have proposed a framework for discriminating quantum states useful for performing teleportation through the measurement of a hermitian witness operator. The ability of an entangled state to act as a resource for teleportation is connected with the fully entangled fraction of the state. The estimation of the fully entangled fraction is difficult in general, except in the case of some known states. We have shown that the set of states having their fully entangled fraction bounded by a certain threshold value required for teleportation is both convex and compact. Exploiting this feature we have demonstrated the existence of a witness operator for teleportation. The measurement of the expectation value of the witness for unknown states reveals which states are useful as resource for performing teleportation. We have provided some illustrations of the applicability of the witness for isotropic and Werner states in $d \otimes d$ dimensions, and another class of maximally entangled mixed states for qubits. The measurability of such a witness operator requires determination of a much lesser number of parameters in comparison to state tomography of an unknown state, thus signifying the practical utility of our proposal. It would be interesting to explore the possibility of existence of witnesses for various other information processing tasks, as well. In this context further studies on finding optimal and common witnesses are called for.

Chapter 6

Construction of optimal teleportation witnesses

6.1 Prelude

Entanglement witnesses provide experimentally viable procedures for detecting the presence of entanglement in composite quantum systems. However, entanglement witnesses are not universal, and hence the question as to how to maximally detect entangled states, i.e., increase the number of states detected by the witness, is of significance. One direction in this line of thought has been provided by the study on common entanglement witnesses [WG07, GAM13]. Another important path in this quest is the study on optimal entanglement witnesses [LKCH00]. Optimization of entanglement witnesses entails the refinement of witnesses , so that a witness can detect the largest class of states within a given set. In fact a witness W_1 is said to be finer than another witness W_2 if W_1 detects some more states in addition to the states that W_2 detects. The possibility of optimization of entanglement witnesses has lead to the construction of optimal witnesses [BDHK05, CP11].

Entanglement witnesses enable experimentally viable procedures to detect

the presence of entanglement, a notion that has been carried forward to identify manifestations of various properties of quantum states, such as macroscopic entanglement through thermodynamical witnesses [BV04], as well as witnesses for quantum correlations [DVB10], teleportation [GAMC11, ZFLJ12], cryptography [BHH12] and mixedness [MPM13]. Although entanglement is a key ingredient for teleportation, yet not all entangled states are useful for the purpose of teleportation. The problem gets accentuated in higher dimensions where bound entangled states [HHH98] are also present. The ability of an entangled state to perform teleportation is linked to a threshold value of the fully entangled fraction [BDSW96] which is difficult to estimate except for some known states [ZLFW10]. Based upon the linkage of the threshold value of the fully entangled fraction with teleportation fidelity, and utilising again the separation axioms, the existence of hermitian operators acting as teleportation witness was demonstrated and studied in the previous chapter [GAMC11]. A teleportation witness W_T is a hermitian operator with at least one negative eigenvalue and (i) $Tr(W_T \varpi) \geq 0$, for all states ϖ not useful for teleportation and (ii) $Tr(W_T\vartheta) < 0$ for atleast, one entangled state ϑ which is useful for teleportation. In a following work [ZFLJ12] a teleportation witness with interesting universal properties was proposed, which though depends upon the choice of a unitary operator that may be difficult to find in practice, especially in higher dimensions. The difficulty in identifying useful resources for teleportation necessitates the construction of suitable teleportation witnesses that would be possible to implement experimentally in order to ascertain whether a given unknown state would be useful as a teleportation channel. Moreover, analogous to the theory of entanglement witnesses, maximal detection of states capable for teleportation is a question of significance. This chapter addresses both the issues. In section 6.2 construction of optimal teleportation witnesses is prescribed for qubits, qutrits and qudits. In section 6.3 suitable examples are provided to vindicate the efficacy of such optimal witnesses.

6.2 Optimal teleportation witness

Between two witnesses W_1 and W_2 , W_1 is said to be finer than W_2 , if $DW_2 \subseteq DW_1$, where $DW_i = \{\chi : Tr(W_i\chi) < 0\}, i = 1, 2$, i.e., the set of entangled states detected by W_i . A witness is said to be optimal if there exists no other witness finer than it [LKCH00]. Further, if the set of product vectors $|e, f\rangle$, $P_W = \{|e, f\rangle : Tr(W|e, f\rangle \langle e, f|) = 0\}$, spans the relevant product Hilbert space, then the witness W is optimal [LKCH00]. It was shown in [ATL11] that if a witness operating on $H_m \otimes H_m$ can be expressed in the form $W = Q^{T_A}$, where Q is the projector on a pure entangled state, then the witness W is optimal.

On the other hand, as stated earlier, the ability of a quantum state in performing teleportation is determined by a threshold value of the fully entangled fraction, given by $F(\rho) = max_U Tr[(U^{\dagger} \otimes I)\rho(U \otimes I)|\Phi\rangle\langle\Phi|]$ [BDSW96], where $|\Phi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d}} \sum_{k=0}^{d-1} |kk\rangle$ and U is an unitary operator. Precisely, in $d \otimes d$ systems if $F(\rho)$ exceeds $\frac{1}{d}$, then the state is considered useful for the protocol [BDSW96].

6.2.1 Optimal teleportation witness for qubits

Consider the entanglement witness, $W^2 = \rho_{\phi^+}^{T_A}$, where $|\phi^+\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|00\rangle + |11\rangle)$, acting on two qubit systems. Since, $\rho_{\phi^+} = \frac{1}{4}(I \otimes I + \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_x - \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y + \sigma_z \otimes \sigma_z)$, one thus obtains, $W^2 = \frac{1}{4}(I \otimes I + \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_x + \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y + \sigma_z \otimes \sigma_z)$, which implies,

$$Tr((W^{2} - \frac{1}{4}\sigma_{y} \otimes \sigma_{y})\rho)$$

= $\frac{1}{4}Tr((I \otimes I + \sigma_{x} \otimes \sigma_{x} + \sigma_{z} \otimes \sigma_{z})\rho)$ (6.1)

for any arbitrary density matrix ρ . Hence,

$$F(\rho) \ge Tr(\rho|\phi^+\rangle\langle\phi^+|) \tag{6.2}$$

The r.h.s of the above equation is given by $\frac{1}{4}Tr((I \otimes I + \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_x + \sigma_z \otimes \sigma_z - \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y)\rho)$, which using Eq.(6.1), becomes $Tr((W^2 - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y)\rho)$. This in

turn implies using Eq.(6.2) that

$$Tr((\frac{1}{2}\sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y + \frac{1}{2}I - W^2)\rho) \ge \frac{1}{2} - F(\rho)$$
(6.3)

If ρ is not useful for teleportation, i.e., $F(\rho) \leq \frac{1}{2}$, then $Tr((\frac{1}{2}\sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y + \frac{1}{2}I - W^2)\rho) \geq 0$, implying that

$$W_{2\otimes 2} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y + \frac{1}{2}I - W^2 \tag{6.4}$$

is a teleportation witness acting on two qubits.

Next, with some straightforward algebraic manipulation it is observed that the witness can be expressed as

$$W_{2\otimes 2} = (|\psi^-\rangle\langle\psi^-|)^{T_A} \tag{6.5}$$

where, $|\psi^{-}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|01\rangle - |10\rangle)$. Further the product vectors $(|0\rangle + i|1\rangle) \otimes (|0\rangle - i|1\rangle), (|0\rangle + |1\rangle)^{\otimes 2}, |00\rangle, |11\rangle$ span $C^{2} \otimes C^{2}$ and belong to $P_{W_{2\otimes 2}}$. This establishes the optimality of the teleportation witness [LKCH00, ATL11].

6.2.2 Optimal teleportation witness for qutrits

The generalized Gell-Mann matrices are higher dimensional extensions of the Pauli matrices (for qubits) and are hermitian and traceless. They form an orthogonal set and basis. In particular, they can be categorized for qutrits as the following types of traceless matrices [BK08]:

$$\lambda^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \lambda^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\mathbf{i} & 0 \\ \mathbf{i} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \lambda^{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\lambda^{4} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \lambda^{5} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -i \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ i & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \lambda^{6} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\lambda^{7} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\mathbf{i} \\ 0 & \mathbf{i} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \lambda^{8} = \begin{pmatrix} 1/\sqrt{3} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1/\sqrt{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -2/\sqrt{3} \end{pmatrix}$$

Now, consider the following entanglement witness in qutrits,

$$W^3 = (|\delta\rangle\langle\delta|)^{T_A} \tag{6.6}$$

where, $\delta = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(|00\rangle + |11\rangle + |22\rangle)$, yielding,

$$W^3 = \frac{1}{9}(I \otimes I + \frac{3}{2}\Delta) \tag{6.7}$$

with $\Delta = \sum_{i=1}^{8} \lambda^{i} \otimes \lambda^{i}$. Therefore, for any arbitrary density matrix $\sigma \in B(H_3 \otimes H_3)$, taking $\Delta_1 = \lambda^2 \otimes \lambda^2 + \lambda^5 \otimes \lambda^5 + \lambda^7 \otimes \lambda^7$ and $\Delta_2 = \lambda^1 \otimes \lambda^1 + \lambda^3 \otimes \lambda^3 + \lambda^4 \otimes \lambda^4 + \lambda^6 \otimes \lambda^6 + \lambda^8 \otimes \lambda^8$, one gets

$$Tr[(W^3 - \frac{1}{6}\Delta_1)\sigma] = \frac{1}{9}Tr[(I \otimes I + \frac{3}{2}\Delta_2)\sigma]$$
(6.8)

Hence,

$$F(\sigma) \ge Tr(\sigma|\delta\rangle\langle\delta|) \tag{6.9}$$

The r.h.s. may be expressed as $\frac{1}{9}Tr((I \otimes I + \frac{3}{2}(\Delta_2 - \Delta_1))\sigma)$ which using Eq.(6.8) becomes $Tr((W^3 - \frac{1}{3}\Delta_1)\sigma)$. It follows from Eq.(6.9) that

$$Tr[(\frac{1}{3}\Delta_1 + \frac{1}{3}I - W^3)\sigma] \ge \frac{1}{3} - F(\sigma)$$
(6.10)

Hence, if σ is not useful for teleportation, i.e., $F(\sigma) \leq \frac{1}{3}$ [BDSW96], then $Tr[(\frac{1}{3}\Delta_1 + \frac{1}{3}I - W^3)\sigma] \geq 0$. Thus,

$$W_{3\otimes 3} = \frac{1}{3}\Delta_1 + \frac{1}{3}I - W^3 \tag{6.11}$$

is indeed a teleportation witness for qutrits.

Now, let us denote by $P_{W_{3\otimes3}}$, the set of all product vectors on which

the expectation value of the witness $W_{3\otimes 3}$ vanishes, i.e., $P_{W_{3\otimes 3}} = \{|e, f\rangle : \langle e, f | W_{3\otimes 3} | e, f \rangle = 0\}$. If we consider the product vectors $K_1 = |00\rangle, K_2 = |11\rangle, K_3 = |22\rangle, K_4 = (|0\rangle + |1\rangle + |2\rangle)^{\otimes 2}, K_5 = (|0\rangle + i|1\rangle) \otimes (|0\rangle - i|1\rangle), K_6 = (|0\rangle + i|2\rangle) \otimes (|0\rangle - i|2\rangle), K_7 = (|1\rangle + i|2\rangle) \otimes (|1\rangle - i|2\rangle), K_8 = (|0\rangle - |1\rangle - |2\rangle)^{\otimes 2}, K_9 = (|0\rangle + |1\rangle - |2\rangle)^{\otimes 2}$, it is noticed that (i) $\langle K_i | W_{3\otimes 3} | K_i \rangle = 0$, (ii) K_i 's are linearly independent, $\forall i \in \{1, 2, ..9\}$. Thus it follows that $P_{W_{3\otimes 3}}$ spans $C^3 \otimes C^3$. This ascertains the optimality of the witness $W_{3\otimes 3}$ [LKCH00].

6.2.3 Teleportation witness for qudits

For general qudit systems the construction of teleportation witnesses from entanglement witnesses may be undertaken in a manner similar to that shown above for qubits or qutrits. Utilising the generalized Gell-Mann matrices for $d \otimes d$ systems, and retracing the steps of an argument similar to that used for qubits and qutrits, one can obtain a teleportation witness for qudits as

$$W_{d\otimes d} = \frac{1}{d} \sum_{j=0}^{d-2} \sum_{k=j+1}^{d-1} (\Lambda_a^{jk} \otimes \Lambda_a^{jk}) + \frac{1}{d} I - (|\Phi\rangle \langle \Phi|)^{T_A}$$
(6.12)

where, $\Lambda_a^{jk} = -i|j\rangle\langle k| + i|k\rangle\langle j|, 0 \leq j < k \leq d-1$ and $|\Phi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{d}}\sum_{l=0}^{d-1}|ll\rangle$. Here it may be remarked that there is no general proof of optimality for teleportation witness for qudits, but optimality for a given dimension needs to be checked in the manner above by considering the set of all product vectors on which the expectation value of the witness vanishes.

6.3 Illustrations and Decomposition

We now consider certain classes of states pertaining to qubits and qutrits, which exemplify the action of our constructed witness. Let us first take the class of two qubit states with maximally mixed marginals, given by

$$\eta_{mix} = \frac{1}{4} (I \otimes I + \sum_{i=1}^{3} c_i \sigma_i \otimes \sigma_i)$$
(6.13)

The expectation value of the witness given by Eq.(6.4) on the above state gives

$$Tr(W_{2\otimes 2}\eta_{mix}) = \frac{1}{4}(1+c_2-c_1-c_3)$$
(6.14)

implying that for $1 + c_2 - c_1 - c_3 < 0$, the witness $W_{2\otimes 2}$ detects the states as useful for teleportation. Since $W_{2\otimes 2}$ is optimal, this is the largest set of states useful for teleportation in the given class that can be detected by any witness. Next, we consider the isotropic state in qutrits, given by

$$\eta_{iso} = \alpha |\phi_+^3\rangle \langle \phi_+^3| + \frac{1-\alpha}{9}I \tag{6.15}$$

where, $|\phi_+^3\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(|00\rangle + |11\rangle + |22\rangle)$ and $-\frac{1}{8} \leq \alpha \leq 1$. Now applying the witness given by Eq.(6.11), it is observed that

$$Tr(W_{3\otimes 3}\eta_{iso}) = \frac{2-8\alpha}{9}$$
 (6.16)

implying that for $\alpha > \frac{1}{4}$, the states are useful for teleportation. Thus, the witness $W_{3\otimes 3}$ detects all entangled isotropic states as useful for teleportation, in conformity with a result already known in the literature [ZLFW10]. This is a reaffirmation of the optimality of the witness $W_{3\otimes 3}$, as it detects the maximal class of isotropic states as useful for teleportation.

The practical use for teleportation witnesses is that they are experimentally realizable on account of being hermitian. For qubit systems, the decomposition of a proposed teleportation witness in terms of Pauli spin operators has been shown earlier [GAMC11]. The teleportation witness constructed here is expressed in terms of generalized Gell-Mann matrices which are hermitian. However, for d = 3, i.e., qutrit systems the teleportation witness can also be expressed in terms of spin-1 operators [BK08] which are the observables $S_x, S_y, S_z, S_x^2, S_y^2, S_z^2, \{S_x, S_y\}, \{S_y, S_z\}, \{S_z, S_x\}$ of a spin-1 system, where $\vec{S} = \{S_x, S_y, S_z\}$ is the spin operator and $\{S_i, S_j\} = S_i S_j + S_j S_i$ (with i, j = x, y, z) denotes the corresponding anticommutator. They are given by, $S_x = \frac{\hbar}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, S_y = \frac{\hbar}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i & 0 \\ i & 0 & -i \\ 0 & i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, S_z = \hbar \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$. Ex-

pressing the witness given by Eq.(6.11) in terms of spin-1 operators, yields

$$W_{3\otimes 3} = -\frac{2}{9}(I \otimes I) + \Pi$$
 (6.17)

where

$$\Pi = \frac{1}{6\hbar^{2}} (S_{y} \otimes S_{y} - S_{z} \otimes S_{z} - S_{x} \otimes S_{x}) + \frac{1}{6\hbar^{4}} (-\{S_{z}, S_{x}\} \otimes \{S_{z}, S_{x}\} + \{S_{x}, S_{y}\} \otimes \{S_{x}, S_{y}\} + \{S_{y}, S_{z}\} \otimes \{S_{y}, S_{z}\}) + \frac{2}{3\hbar^{2}} (I \otimes S_{x}^{2} + I \otimes S_{y}^{2} + S_{x}^{2} \otimes I + S_{y}^{2} \otimes I) - \frac{2}{3\hbar^{4}} (S_{x}^{2} \otimes S_{x}^{2} + S_{y}^{2} \otimes S_{y}^{2}) - \frac{1}{3\hbar^{4}} (S_{x}^{2} \otimes S_{y}^{2} + S_{y}^{2} \otimes S_{x}^{2})$$
(6.18)

Thus, for an experimental outcome,

$$\langle W_{3\otimes 3}\rangle = -\frac{2}{9}\langle I\otimes I\rangle + \langle \Pi\rangle < 0$$
 (6.19)

one can detect the given unknown state as useful for teleportation.

6.4 Summary

We have presented here a method to construct teleportation witnesses from entanglement witnesses for general qudit systems. Optimality of the witnesses that we have constructed for qubit and qutrit states ensures a broader perspective in the sense that a maximal class of entangled states can now be recognized to be useful for teleportation. Decomposition of the proposed witness in terms of spin operators authenticates its feasibility in experimental detection of entanglement. The present analysis may be extended in a few directions. One may seek to test the optimality of the witness for twoqudits of any given dimension d > 3. Finally, the choice of the entanglement witnesses are not limited to the ones we have taken up here, and other entanglement witnesses may be considered and checked for their viability in the construction of teleportation witnesses using similar methods. In our discussion so far, we have considered the signature of entanglement in quantum systems. Subsequently, amongst the entangled states we have probed upon useful resources of teleportation through teleportation witness operators. To this end we have used separation axioms analogous to the theory of entanglement witnesses.

However, on the other hand the separable states too have interesting manifestations. As is well known, even though local unitary operations fail to create entanglement between separable systems, global unitary operations can be suitable for the purpose. However, not all separable states give rise to entangled states on non-local unitary operation. States which are separable from spectrum result in separable states on the action of any global operation. Therefore, states which are not separable from spectrum occupies a pertinent place in the creation of entanglement. This is what we probe in the next chapter, namely identification of separable states from which entanglement can be created through non-local unitary operations.

Chapter 7

Witness of mixed separable states useful for entanglement creation

7.1 Prelude

An intriguing feature of the set of separable states is concerning the problem of separability from spectrum [Kni03]. This problem calls for a characterization of those separable states σ for which $U\sigma U^{\dagger}$ is also separable for all unitary operators U. A possible approach towards this end is to find constraints on the eigenvalues of σ such that it remains separable under any factorization of the corresponding Hilbert space. The states that are separable from spectrum are also termed as absolutely separable states [KŻ01]. There exists a ball of known radius centered at the maximally mixed state $\frac{1}{mn}(I \otimes I)$ (for $mn \times mn$ density matrices), where all the states within the ball are absolutely separable [ŻHSL98, GB02]. However, there exist absolutely separable states outside this ball too[IH00].

The problem of separability from spectrum was first handled in the case of $2 \otimes 2$ systems [VADM01], where it was shown that σ is absolutely separable if

Chapter 7. Witness of mixed separable states useful for entanglement creation

and only if (iff) its eigenvalues (in descending order) satisfy $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_3 + 2\sqrt{\lambda_2\lambda_4}$. A closely related problem is the characterization of the states which have positive partial transpose (PPT) from spectrum, i.e., the states σ_{ppt} with the property that $U\sigma_{ppt}U^{\dagger}$ is PPT for any unitary operator U. It was shown [Hil07] that $\sigma_{ppt} \in D(H_2 \otimes H_n)$ (D(X) represents the bounded linear operators acting on X) is PPT from spectrum iff its eigenvalues obey $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_{2n-1} + 2\sqrt{\lambda_{2n-2}\lambda_{2n}}$. It has been recently shown that separability from spectrum is equivalent to PPT from spectrum for states living in $D(H_2 \otimes H_n)$ [Joh13].

The generation of entanglement from separable states is one of the leading experimental frontiers at present [SKK+00, RNO+00, KC01, LL09, KRS11]. As absolutely separable states remain separable under global unitary operations, such states cannot be used as input states for entanglement creation. Though pure product states are not absolutely separable, the same is not true for mixed separable states which become absolutely separable after crossing a given amount of mixedness [TBKN11]. Given the ubiquity of environmental interactions in turning pure states into mixed ones, it is of practical importance to determine whether a state is eligible to be used as input for entanglement generation. The utility of mixed separable states which are not absolutely separable was highlighted in [IH00] for the generation of maximally entangled mixed states. Mixed separable states from which entanglement can be created have also been studied in other works [BPCP03, GHH+14].

Quantum gates have been employed to generate entanglement, especially in the context of quantum computation where unitary gates operate on qubits to perform information processing. Much work has been devoted to study the entangling capacity of unitary gates [DWS03, MKŻ13]. Quantum algorithms use pure product states which can be turned into maximally entangled states using global unitary operations. However, if the state is maximally mixed no benefit can be drawn from it through global unitary operations. States in some vicinity of the maximally mixed state also remain separable as noted in [ŻHSL98, GB02], though such states may have possible implications in nuclear magnetic resonance quantum computation [BCJ⁺99, SPAM⁺12]. However, states not close to the maximally mixed state may be useful for entanglement creation. So, it is important to study what happens when one moves from one extreme of a maximally mixed state to the other, i.e., a pure product state, within the set of all separable states.

Given the immense significance of mixed separable states, we present here systematic proposal to identify separable states which are not absolutely separable. Our approach is somewhat different from the objective of imposing restrictions on the spectrum of absolutely separable states [VADM01, Hil07, Joh13]. Our motivation here is to identify those separable states which are not absolutely separable, i.e., the separable states χ for which $U\chi U^{\dagger}$ is entangled for some unitary operator U. To this end, we characterize the set of all absolutely separable states in any finite dimensional bipartite system as convex and compact. This enables one to construct hermitian operators which identify separable states that are not absolutely separable in any arbitrary dimension Hilbert space. Proposing a general method of construction of witnesses, we illustrate their action on various two-qudit systems. Examples of unitary operations presented here include the celebrated CNOT (Controlled NOT) gate. We further show that the witnesses can be decomposed in terms of spin operators and locally measureable photon polarizations for qubit states, in order to facilitate their experimental realization.

7.2 Existence, construction and completeness of witness

We begin with some notations and definitions needed. We consider density matrices in any arbitrary dimensional bipartite system, i.e., $\rho \in D(H_m \otimes H_n)$. $\mathbf{S} = \{\rho : \rho \text{ is separable}\}$ is the set of all separable states, and $\mathbf{AS} = \{\sigma \in \mathbf{S} : U\sigma U^{\dagger} \text{ is separable } \forall \text{ unitary operators } U\}$ is the set of all absolutely separable states. \mathbf{AS} forms a non-empty subset of \mathbf{S} , as $\frac{1}{mn}(I \otimes I) \in \mathbf{AS}$. A point x is called a limit point of a set A if each open ball centered on x contains at least one point of A different from x. The set is closed if it contains each of its limit points [Sim63].

Theorem 7.1. AS is a convex and compact subset of S.

Proof: AS is convex: Let $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in AS$ and $\sigma = \lambda \sigma_1 + (1 - \lambda)\sigma_2$, where $\lambda \in [0, 1]$. Consider an arbitrary unitary operator U. Therefore,

$$U\sigma U^{\dagger} = \lambda U\sigma_1 U^{\dagger} + (1-\lambda)U\sigma_2 U^{\dagger} = \lambda \sigma_1' + (1-\lambda)\sigma_2'$$
(7.1)

where $\sigma'_i = U\sigma_i U^{\dagger}, i = 1, 2.$ $\sigma'_1, \sigma'_2 \in \mathbf{S}$ as $\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in \mathbf{AS}$. Since **S** is convex, $U\sigma U^{\dagger} \in \mathbf{S}$, which implies that $\sigma \in \mathbf{AS}$. Hence, **AS** is convex.

AS is compact: Consider an arbitrary limit point θ of AS (AS will always have a limit point. For example, in the neighbourhood of the identity there are other absolutely separable states). The same θ must also be a limit point of S as AS \subset S. Thus $\theta \in$ S, because S is closed. Now, let us inductively construct a sequence $\{\theta_n\}$ of distinct states from AS such that $\theta_n \to \theta$ as follows:

$$\begin{aligned}
\theta_1 &\in B_1(\theta) \cap \mathbf{AS}, \ \theta_1 \neq \theta, \\
\theta_2 &\in B_{\frac{1}{2}}(\theta) \cap \mathbf{AS}, \ \theta_2 \neq \theta, \theta_1 \\
\dots &\in \dots \\
\dots &\in \dots \\
\theta_n &\in B_{\frac{1}{n}}(\theta) \cap \mathbf{AS}, \ \theta_n \neq \theta, \theta_1, \theta_2 \dots \theta_{n-1}
\end{aligned}$$
(7.2)

Here $B_r(\theta)$ denotes an open ball of radius r centered at θ . (This construction is possible because each neighbourhood of θ contains infinitely many points of \mathbf{AS} , θ being a limit point of \mathbf{AS}). For the above mentioned choice of θ_n 's, evidently $\theta_n \to \theta$. Hence, for any unitary operator U, one has $U\theta_n U^{\dagger} \to U\theta U^{\dagger}$. Thus, $U\theta_n U^{\dagger} \in \mathbf{S}$ for each $n \geq 1$, as $\theta_n \in \mathbf{AS}$. Since \mathbf{S} is a closed set, it must contain the limit of the sequence $\{U\theta_n U^{\dagger}\}$, which is $U\theta U^{\dagger}$. Hence, $U\theta U^{\dagger} \in \mathbf{S}$, for any arbitrary choice of the unitary operator U. Therefore, $\theta \in \mathbf{AS}$ as we already have $\theta \in \mathbf{S}$. Since θ is an arbitrary limit point of \mathbf{AS} , it follows that \mathbf{AS} contains all its limit points, thereby implying that \mathbf{AS} is closed [Sim63]. As any closed subset of a compact set is compact [Sim63], one concludes that \mathbf{AS} is compact because \mathbf{S} is compact. Hence, the theorem.

In view of the theorem above, we now formally define a hermitian operator

 ${\cal T}$ which identifies separable but not absolutely separable states through the following two inequalities:

$$Tr(T\sigma) \ge 0, \ \forall \sigma \in \mathbf{AS}$$
 (7.3)

$$\exists \chi \in \mathbf{S} - \mathbf{AS}, \quad \text{s.t.} \quad Tr(T\chi) < 0 \tag{7.4}$$

Therefore, T identifies those separable states χ that become entangled under some global unitary operation.

Consider $\chi \in \mathbf{S}-\mathbf{AS}$. There exists a unitary operator U_e such that $U_e \chi U_e^{\dagger}$ is entangled. Consider an entanglement witness W that detects $U_e \chi U_e^{\dagger}$, i.e., $Tr(WU_e \chi U_e^{\dagger}) < 0$. Using the cyclic property of the trace, one obtains $Tr(U_e^{\dagger}WU_e \chi) < 0$. It follows that

$$T = U_e^{\dagger} W U_e \tag{7.5}$$

is our desired operator. Next, considering its action on an arbitrary absolutely separable state σ , we see that $Tr(T\sigma) = Tr(U_e^{\dagger}WU_e\sigma) = Tr(WU_e\sigma U_e^{\dagger})$. As σ is absolutely separable, $U_e\sigma U_e^{\dagger}$ is a separable quantum state, and since W is an entanglement witness, $Tr(WU_e\sigma U_e^{\dagger}) \geq 0$. This implies that T has a non-negative expectation value on all absolutely separable states σ . The completeness of the separation axiom follows from the completeness of entanglement witness, viz, for any entangled state $U_e\chi U_e^{\dagger}$, there always exists a witness W [HHH96]. Thus, if χ is a separable but not absolutely separable state, then one can always construct an operator T in the above mentioned procedure which distinguishes χ from absolutely separable states.

7.3 Illustrations

As the first example consider the separable state in $D(H_2 \otimes H_2)$ given by [TBKN11]

$$\chi_{2\otimes 2} = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.6)

which becomes entangled on application of the unitary operator

$$U_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 1\\ 0 & \sqrt{2} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{2} & 0\\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.7)

The entanglement witness

$$W_1 = \begin{pmatrix} c^2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -c & 0 \\ 0 & -c & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.8)

with $c = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}+1}$ detects the entangled state $U_1 \chi_{2 \otimes 2} U_1^{\dagger}$. Hence, the operator

$$T_1 = U_1^{\dagger} W_1 U_1 \tag{7.9}$$

gives $Tr(T_1\chi_{2\otimes 2}) < 0$, detecting $\chi_{2\otimes 2}$ to be a state which is not absolutely separable.

Next, consider the following separable density matrix $\chi_{2\otimes 4} \in D(H_2 \otimes H_4)$:

The state $\chi^e_{2\otimes 4} = U_2 \chi_{2\otimes 4} U_2^{\dagger}$, is entangled due to the unitary operator

$$U_{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & \sqrt{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \sqrt{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{2} & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.11)

Therefore, the operator $T_2 = U_2^{\dagger} W_2 U_2$ detects the state $\chi_{2\otimes 4}$ as a separable but not absolutely separable state, where W_2 is the entanglement witness for the entangled state $\chi_{2\otimes 4}^e$, given by $W_2 = Q^{T_B}$, with Q being a projector on $|10\rangle - |01\rangle$.

It is hard to classify states separable from spectrum in dimensions other than $2 \otimes n$, due to the absence of suitable methodology in the existing literature. However, through our approach of witnesses we can identify states which are not absolutely separable in any arbitrary dimension. Consider the isotropic state $\in D(H_3 \otimes H_3)$, given by

$$\chi_{3\otimes 3} = \alpha |\phi_3^+\rangle \langle \phi_3^+| + \frac{1-\alpha}{9}I, \qquad (7.12)$$

where $|\phi_3^+\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(|00\rangle + |11\rangle + |22\rangle)$. This state is separable for $-\frac{1}{8} \leq$

 $\alpha \leq \frac{1}{4}$ [BDHK05]. It is observed that the unitary operator $U_3 = I - (\frac{\sqrt{2}-1}{\sqrt{2}})(|00\rangle\langle 00|+|22\rangle\langle 22|)+\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|00\rangle\langle 22|-|22\rangle\langle 00|)$ converts $\chi_{3\otimes 3}$ to an entangled state $\chi^e_{3\otimes 3}$ in the range $\alpha \in (\frac{1}{1+3\sqrt{2}}, \frac{1}{4}]$. So, the operator $T_3 = U_3^{\dagger}W_3U_3$ detects $\chi_{3\otimes 3}$ as a state that is not absolutely separable. Here W_3 is the entanglement witness for $\chi^e_{3\otimes 3}$, given by $W_3 = (|\eta\rangle\langle\eta|)^{T_B}$ with $|\eta\rangle$ being the eigenvector of $(\chi^e_{3\otimes 3})^{T_B}$ corresponding to the eigenvalue $-\frac{1}{9}\alpha + \frac{1}{9} - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{3}\alpha$.

Let us now present a construction of the witness operator for general qudit states. Take the unitary operator

$$U_{d\otimes d} = I - \left(\frac{\sqrt{2} - 1}{\sqrt{2}}\right)A + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}B$$
(7.13)

where $A = |00\rangle\langle 00| + |d - 1, d - 1\rangle\langle d - 1, d - 1|$ and $B = |00\rangle\langle d - 1, d - 1| - |d - 1, d - 1\rangle\langle 00|$, and the mixed separable state

$$\chi_{d\otimes d} = \frac{1}{4} |00\rangle \langle 00| + \frac{3}{4} |d-1, d-1\rangle \langle d-1, d-1|$$
(7.14)

The state $U_{d\otimes d}\chi_{d\otimes d}U_{d\otimes d}^{\dagger}$ is entangled as detected by the witness $W_{d\otimes d} = \frac{1}{d}I - |P\rangle\langle P|$, where P is the projector on the maximally entangled state $\frac{1}{\sqrt{d}}\sum_{i=0}^{d-1}|ii\rangle$. Therefore, in $d\otimes d$ dimensions the operator $T_{d\otimes d} = U_{d\otimes d}^{\dagger}W_{d\otimes d}U_{d\otimes d}$ detects $\chi_{d\otimes d}$ as a state which is not absolutely separable.

7.4 Entanglement creation using quantum gates

Let us now consider some examples of unitary quantum gates which can produce entanglement by acting on bipartite separable states. Since the construction presented above is valid for any arbitrary dimension, let us consider a case in $d_1 \otimes d_2$ dimensions where $d_1 \neq d_2$. Consider the two qudit hybrid quantum gate U_H acting on $d_1 \otimes d_2$ dimensions, whose action is defined by

$$U_H|m\rangle \otimes |n\rangle = |m\rangle \otimes |m-n\rangle, \qquad (7.15)$$

with $m \in \mathbb{Z}_{d_1}, n \in \mathbb{Z}_{d_2}$ [DWS03]. Let us take the initial mixed separable state

$$\chi_{d_1 \otimes d_2} = \frac{1}{4} \chi_x + \frac{3}{4} \chi_y, \tag{7.16}$$

where χ_x is a projector on $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|0, d_2 - 1\rangle + |1, d_2 - 1\rangle)$, and χ_y a projector on $|d_1 - 1, d_2 - 1\rangle$. The state $U_H\chi_{d_1\otimes d_2}U_H^{\dagger}$ is entangled as identified by the witness $W_{d_1\otimes d_2} = X^{T_B}$ (X being the projector on $|02\rangle - |11\rangle$). Hence, $T_{d_1\otimes d_2} = U_H^{\dagger}W_{d_1\otimes d_2}U_H$ detects $\chi_{d_1\otimes d_2}$ as a state which is not absolutely separable. The above example again illustrates the fact that one can construct a hermitian operator for two qudits (for equal or different dimensions) that can recognize useful separable states from which entanglement can be created between the two qudits using global unitary operations.

We finally consider the example of the much discussed CNOT gate. The CNOT gate can generate entanglement between two qubits, if the state under consideration is not absolutely separable. If we now consider the action of U_{CNOT} on a class of mixed separable states of two qubits of the form

$$\chi_{mix} = a|00\rangle\langle00| + b|00\rangle\langle10| + b|10\rangle\langle00| + (1-a)|10\rangle\langle10|$$
(7.17)

where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, we find that the states of the form $\chi_{mix}^e = U_{CNOT}\chi_{mix}U_{CNOT}^{\dagger}$ can be entangled. Such entanglement can be detected by the witness $W_{CNOT} = [(|10\rangle - |01\rangle)(\langle 10| - \langle 01|)]^{T_B}$. A hermitian operator T_{CNOT} constructed according to our prescription, which detects χ_{mix} as a state not absolutely separable, is given by $T_{CNOT} = U_{CNOT}^{\dagger}W_{CNOT}U_{CNOT}$. Now, $Tr(T_{CNOT}\chi_{mix}) = -2b$, implying that for b > 0 the operator detects the class of states as useful for entanglement creation under the action of the CNOT gate. For example, for a = 3/4 and b = 1/4, we get a state that is not absolutely separable detected by the witness T_{CNOT} . On the other hand, a state of the form [Joh13]

$$\sigma = \frac{1}{11} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 3 & 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & 3 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 4 \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.18)

leads to $Tr(T_{CNOT}\sigma) > 0$, remaining separable under the action of the *CNOT* gate, as the state σ (7.18) is absolutely separable. Note though, that neither the entanglement witness W_{CNOT} , and nor consequently T_{CNOT} as constructed here, are universal. As a result, the operator T_{CNOT} fails to detect some states which are not absolutely separable that exist even for b < 0 in the class of states (7.17). However, through our generic approach, one can construct another suitable witness operator to identify states not absolutely separable in the latter range.

7.5 Decomposition of the witness operator

For the purpose of experimental determination of the expectation value of a witness operator on a given state, it is helpful to decompose it in terms of spin matrices [GHB⁺02]. As an example, the witness T_{CNOT} which detects the class of states χ_{mix} (7.17) as not absolutely separable, admits the decomposition $T_{CNOT} = \frac{1}{2}(I \otimes I - I \otimes Z - X \otimes Z - X \otimes I)$ where X, Z are the usual Pauli spin matrices. Further, in order that the witness operator can be measured locally, it may be decomposed in the form $T = \sum_{i=1}^{k} c_i |e_i\rangle \langle e_i| \otimes |f_i\rangle \langle f_i|$ [GHB⁺02]. Experimental realization of entanglement witnesses has been achieved using polarized photon states [BDMDN⁺03]. In case of the operator T_{CNOT} , the decomposition in terms of photon polarization states is given by

$$T_{CNOT} = |HV\rangle\langle HV| + |VV\rangle\langle VV| - |DH\rangle\langle DH| + |FH\rangle\langle FH|$$
(7.19)

where, $|H\rangle = |0\rangle, |V\rangle = |1\rangle, |D\rangle = \frac{|H\rangle + |V\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}, |F\rangle = \frac{|H\rangle - |V\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$ are the horizontal, vertical and diagonal polarization states respectively [BDMDN⁺03]. The above decomposition suggests a realizable method to experimentally verify whether it is possible to create an entangled state from a mixed separable state through the action of an entangling gate.

7.6 Summary

In this chapter we have proposed a framework to distinguish separable states that remain separable from those that become entangled due to global unitary operations in any arbitrary dimensional Hilbert space [Kni03, KŻ01, ŻHSL98, GB02, IH00, VADM01, Hil07, Joh13]. To this end we have characterized the set of all absolutely separable bipartite states as convex and compact, enabling one to construct suitable hermitian operators for identification of states that are not globally separable. A generic procedure for construction of such operators in any dimensions is suggested, which underlines the completeness of the separation, *viz.*, if χ is not absolutely separable then there will always be an operator which detects it. The action of the operator is demonstrated on states in various dimensions. Observational feasibility of witnesses for qubit states is highlighted through decomposition in terms of locally measureable photon polarizations.

The generation of entanglement from separable initial states is of prime importance in information processing applications [SKK⁺00, RNO⁺00, KC01, LL09, KRS11]. Our method helps to identify eligible input states for entanglement creation using global unitary operations in general, and may be of specific relevance in quantum gate operations [MKŻ13] widely used in quantum computation. Though pure product states can be readily entangled through such operations, the inevitability of environmental influences makes the consideration of mixed states highly relevant, and thereby lends practical significance to our proposal for detection of separable mixed states useful for production of entanglement.

Chapter 8

Conclusions

The aim of this chapter is to capture the salient features presented in this dissertation and also to speculate on some future directions of work. Quantum information and its sister area quantum computation claims to make revolutionary changes in computational and information processing tasks. The strength of this claim relies on the phenomenon called entanglement. Although the phenomenon started as a paradox to scientists questioning the foundational attributes of quantum mechanics , yet towards the end of the last century and in the dawn of this century the practical implementations of entanglement took centre stage. It promises to design state of the art technologies like teleportation, superdense coding, quantum algorithms, cryptography and the list goes on.

However, before one utilizes entangled quantum states one needs to detect its presence in them. which operationally is a hard task. The lack of an universal approach further complicates the situation. The situation demands to have a case by case study of quantum states with different approaches to identify signatures of entanglement. Several methods have been laid down over the time for this purpose. One significant approach in this direction is the study on entanglement witnesses. Although entanglement witness is generically a mathematical manifestation yet its practical implementations to detect entanglement has been quite popular . The strength of entanglement witnesses further lies on the fact that if a state is entangled then there will be a witness that detects it.

Entanglement witnesses, besides performing their primary job of detecting entanglement have now diversified their scope to include various other facets of entanglement. The notion of witnessing entanglement has been carried forward to witness other aspects of quantum states like discord, mixedness etc. Thus, characterization of quantum states plays an important role here. Exploitation of the set of entangled states for different tasks motivates to characterize the set.

This dissertation on one hand studies hermitian operators to detect entanglement and on the other hand also extends the notion of witness operators to identify useful resources for quantum information processing tasks. The thesis also sheds light on the set of separable states through the characterization of one of its special subsets, namely the absolutely separable states.

8.1 Summary of the thesis

In chapter 2 the basic mathematical and physical prerequisites have been given to maintain the logical pedagogy. It also surveys important work related to this dissertation especially the focus being on entanglement witnesses.

Chapter 3 discusses the construction of non-decomposable operators to detect a special class of PPT entangled states, namely edge states. Comparisons are made with previously known non-decomposable operators. The experimental realization of the proposed witness operator is also discussed. The utility of such a witness is vindicated through illustrations.

Common entanglement witnesses, i.e., a single witness which can detect a large class of entangled states constitutes an effective procedure to maximally detect entangled states. Construction of such witnesses is discussed in chapter 4.If a witness detects two states then it can detect all the states in their convex combination. Different possible convex combinations of entangled states are discussed. Some insights on common schmidt number witnesses have also been given.

The notion of witnessing entanglement is extended to identify useful resources for teleportation in chapter 5 through hermitian operators, accordingly called teleportation witnesses. The measurability of such operators is discussed in comparison with conventional procedures.

Entanglement witnesses have been optimized in literature to bring more entangled states into its detection domain. Likewise in chapter 6 we discuss the construction of optimal teleportation witnesses. Optimality is reported for $2 \otimes 2$, $3 \otimes 3$ and generalized to $d \otimes d$ systems.

Although local operations cannot generate entanglement between separable quantum states, global unitary operations can be used for this purpose. However, absolutely separable states form a special subclass of states within separable states as they remain separable under any global unitary operation. Chapter 7 introduces the notion of hermitian operators which can recognize useful separable states from which entanglement can be created. The existence and completeness of such operators are proved. Their practical relevance and measurability is discussed through significant illustrations from arbitrary dimensions.

8.2 Future directions

This dissertation has the possibility of leading to several interesting directions of future research. The thesis focusses on the utility of hermitian operators in the detection and characterization of quantum entanglement. Separation axioms, namely the seminal Hahn-Banach theorem from functional analysis had already been utilized in the inception of entanglement witnesses to distinguish entangled states from the separable ones. Application of separation axiom was made possible by the convexity and compactness of the set of separable states.

We have probed here the detection of edge states which lie at the boundary of PPT and NPT entangled states, through hermitian operators. One may optimize such operators and bring more edge states in the detection fold. The study may also be extended to detect edge states in multipartite systems involving many parties. Experimental realization of such operators would also be of much relevance.

One may devise other methods to construct common entanglement witnesses namely from geometric and algebraic considerations. The study may be extended to include multipartite PPT and NPT entangled states.

We have introduced the notion of teleportation witnesses here which identifies useful entangled states for quantum teleportation. We have devised several such teleportation witness and analyzed their optimality. One may thus, exercise geometrical considerations to construct teleportation witnesses and study their experimental relevance. Entanglement witnesses have been generically used to quantify entanglement . In a similar line of thought, quantification of the teleportation capability of entangled states can be probed upon through teleportation witness operators. Such quantifiers can thus be compared with the respective teleportation fidelities of the entangled states concerned.

Absolutely separable states which form a subset of the separable states, have been characterized here as convex and compact. This entailed the inception of hermitian operators to detect states which although separable, are not absolutely separable. Such states are significant as entanglement can be created from them with non-local unitary operations. An extension of the study to the optimization of such operators would be significant. One may also construct common hermitian operators which can identify separate classes of non-absolutely separable states. The study may be extended to include the detection of non-absolutely separable states in multipartite systems.

"We know that we do not know all the laws yettherefore things are to be learned only to be unlearned again"

Richard Feynman

List of Publications on which the thesis is based

- Witness for edge states and its characteristics Nirman Ganguly and Satyabrata Adhikari Physical Review A 80, 032331 (2009).
- Entanglement Witness Operator for Quantum Teleportation Nirman Ganguly, Satyabrata Adhikari, A. S. Majumdar and Jyotishman Chatterjee Physical Review Letters 107, 270501(2011).
- Construction of optimal teleportation witness operators from entanglement witnesses
 Satyabrata Adhikari, Nirman Ganguly and A. S. Majumdar Physical Review A 86, 032315 (2012).
- Common entanglement witnesses and their characteristics Nirman Ganguly, Satyabrata Adhikari and A. S. Majumdar Quantum Information Processing 12, 425 (2013).
- Witness of mixed separable states useful for entanglement creation Nirman Ganguly, Jyotishman Chatterjee and A.S. Majumdar Physical Review A 89, 052304 (2014).

Total list of Publications

- Quantum Cloning, Bell's inequality and teleportation Satyabrata Adhikari, Nirman Ganguly, Indranil Chakrabarty and B.S Choudhury Journal of Physics A: Math.Theor. 41, 415302 (2008).
- Entanglement and Mixedness of Locally cloned Non-Maximal W-State Indranil Chakrabarty, Sovik Roy, Nirman Ganguly and B.S Choudhury International Journal of Theoretical Physics 48, 1833 (2009).
- Witness for edge states and its characteristics Nirman Ganguly and Satyabrata Adhikari Physical Review A 80, 032331 (2009).
- Deletion, Bell's inequality, teleportation Indranil Chakrabarty, Nirman Ganguly and B.S Choudhury Quantum Information Processing 10, 27 (2011).
- Entanglement Witness Operator for Quantum Teleportation
 Nirman Ganguly, Satyabrata Adhikari, A. S. Majumdar and Jyotishman Chatterjee

 Physical Review Letters 107, 270501(2011).
- Construction of optimal teleportation witness operators from entanglement witnesses
 Satyabrata Adhikari, Nirman Ganguly and A. S. Majumdar Physical Review A 86, 032315 (2012).

- Common entanglement witnesses and their characteristics Nirman Ganguly, Satyabrata Adhikari and A. S. Majumdar Quantum Information Processing 12, 425 (2013).
- A cloned qutrit and its utility in information processing tasks Sovik Roy, Nirman Ganguly, Atul Kumar, Satyabrata Adhikari and A.S. Majumdar Quantum Information Processing 13, 629 (2014).
- Witness of mixed separable states useful for entanglement creation Nirman Ganguly, Jyotishman Chatterjee and A.S. Majumdar Physical Review A 89, 052304 (2014).

Bibliography

[ABLS01]	Antonio Acin, Dagmar Bruß, Maciej Lewenstein, and Anna Sanpera. Classification of Mixed Three-Qubit states. <i>Physical</i> <i>Review Letters</i> , 87:040401, 2001.
[AGKL10]	Remigiusz Augusiak, Janusz Grabowski, Marek Kuś, and Ma- ciej Lewenstein. Searching for extremal PPT entangled states. <i>Optics Communications</i> , 283:805, 2010.
[AMR ⁺ 10]	Satyabrata Adhikari, A.S. Majumdar, S. Roy, B. Ghosh, and Nilakantha Nayak. Teleportation via maximally and non- maximally entangled mixed states. <i>Quantum Information and</i> <i>Computation</i> , 10:0398, 2010.
[AP06]	Pankaj Agrawal and Arun Pati. Perfect teleportation and superdense coding with W states. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 74:062320, 2006.
[ARA10]	Mazhar Ali, A. R. P. Rau, and G. Alber. Quantum discord for two-qubit X states. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 81:042105, 2010.
[ATL11]	Remiguiusz Augusiak, Jordi Tura, and Maciej Lewenstein. A note on the optimality of decomposable entanglement witnesses and completely entangled subspaces. <i>Journal of</i> <i>Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical</i> , 44:212001, 2011.
[BB84]	Charles H. Bennett and Gilles Brassard. Quantum cryptog- raphy: Public key distribution and coin tossing. In <i>Proceed</i> -

ings of IEEE International Conference on Computers, Systems and Signal Processing, page 175. IEEE, 1984.

- [BBC⁺93] Charles H. Bennett, Gilles Brassard, Claude Crépeau, Richard Jozsa, Asher Peres, and William K. Wootters. Teleporting an unknown quantum state via dual classical and Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen channels. *Physical Review Letters*, 70:1895, 1993.
- [BBP⁺96] Charles H. Bennett, Gilles Brassard, Sandu Popescu, Benjamin Schumacher, John A. Smolin, and William K. Wootters. Purification of Noisy Entanglement and Faithful Teleportation via Noisy Channels. *Physical Review Letters*, 76:722, 1996.
- [BBPS96] Charles H Bennett, Herbert J Bernstein, Sandu Popescu, and Benjamin Schumacher. Concentrating partial entanglement by local operations. *Physical Review A*, 53:2046, 1996.
- [BC10]Bogna Bylicka and Dariusz Chruściński. Witnessing quantum
discord in 2× N systems. Physical Review A, 81:062102, 2010.
- [BCJ⁺99] Samuel L. Braunstein, Carlton M Caves, Richard Jozsa, Noah Linden, Sandu Popescu, and Rüdiger Schack. Separability of very noisy mixed states and implications for NMR quantum computing. *Physical Review Letters*, 83:1054, 1999.
- [BDEJ95] Adriano Barenco, David Deutsch, Artur Ekert, and Richard Jozsa. Conditional Quantum Dynamics and Logic Gates. *Physical Review Letters*, 74:4083, 1995.
- [BDHK05] Reinhold A. Bertlmann, Katharina Durstberger, Beatrix C Hiesmayr, and Philipp Krammer. Optimal entanglement witnesses for qubits and qutrits. *Physical Review A*, 72:052331, 2005.

[BDL+04]	D. Bruß, G. M. D'Ariano, M. Lewenstein, C. Macchiavello,A. Sen(De), and U. Sen. Distributed Quantum Dense Coding.<i>Physical Review Letters</i>, 93:210501, 2004.
[BDM ⁺ 99]	Charles H. Bennett, David P. DiVincenzo, Tal Mor, Peter W. Shor, John A. Smolin, and Barbara M. Terhal. Unextendible Product Bases and Bound Entanglement. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 82:5385, 1999.
[BDMDN+03]	M. Barbieri, F. De Martini, G. Di Nepi, P. Mataloni, G. M. D'Ariano, and C. Macchiavello. Detection of Entanglement with Polarized Photons: Experimental Realization of an Entanglement Witness. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 91:227901, 2003.
[BDSW96]	Charles H. Bennett, David P. DiVincenzo, John A. Smolin, and William K. Wootters. Mixed-state entanglement and quantum error correction. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 54:3824, 1996.
[Bel64]	John S Bell. On the Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen paradox. <i>Physics</i> , 1:195, 1964.
[BHH12]	Konrad Banaszek, Karol Horodecki, and Paweł Horodecki. Quantum privacy witness. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 85:012330, 2012.
[BK08]	Reinhold A. Bertlmann and Philipp Krammer. Bloch vectors for qudits. <i>Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoret-</i> <i>ical</i> , 41:235303, 2008.
[BNT02]	Reinhold A. Bertlmann, Heide Narnhofer, and Walter Thirring. Geometric picture of entanglement and Bell inequal-

[BPCP03] J. Batle, A.R. Plastino, M. Casas, and A. Plastino. On the distribution of entanglement changes produced by unitary operations. *Physics Letters A*, 307:253, 2003.

ities. Physical Review A, 66:032319, 2002.
[BPM ⁺ 97]	Dik Bouwmeester, Jian-Wei Pan, Klaus Mattle, Manfred Eibl, Harald Weinfurter, and Anton Zeilinger. Experimental quan- tum teleportation. <i>Nature</i> , 390:575, 1997.
[Bra05]	Fernando G.S.L. Brandao. Quantifying entanglement with witness operators. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 72:022310, 2005.
[BV04]	Caslav Brukner and Vlatko Vedral. Macroscopic Thermody- namical Witnesses of Quantum Entanglement. <i>arXiv preprint</i> <i>quant-ph/0406040</i> , 2004.
[BW92]	Charles H. Bennett and Stephen J. Wiesner. Communica- tion via one-and two-particle operators on Einstein-Podolsky- Rosen states. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 69:2881, 1992.
[CAG99]	N.J. Cerf, C. Adami, and R.M. Gingrich. Reduction criterion for separability. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 60:898, 1999.
[CHSH69]	John F. Clauser, Michael A. Horne, Abner Shimony, and Richard A. Holt. Proposed Experiment to Test Local Hidden- Variable Theories. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 23:880, 1969.
[Chu36]	Alonzo Church. An unsolvable problem of elementary number theory. <i>American Journal of Mathematics</i> , 58:345, 1936.
[CK07]	Dariusz Chruściński and Andrzej Kossakowski. On the Struc- ture of Entanglement Witnesses and New Class of Positive In- decomposable Maps. <i>Open Systems & Information Dynamics</i> , 14:275, 2007.
[CK08]	Dariusz Chruściński and Andrzej Kossakowski. How to con- struct indecomposable entanglement witnesses. <i>Journal of</i> <i>Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical</i> , 41:145301, 2008.
[CP11]	Dariusz Chruściński and Justyna Pytel. Optimal entangle- ment witnesses from generalized reduction and Robertson maps. <i>Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical</i> , 44:165304, 2011.

[CW03]	K Chen and L.A Wu. A matrix realignment method for rec- ognizing entanglement. <i>Quantum Information and Computa-</i> <i>tion</i> , 3:193, 2003.
[DC00]	W. Dür and J.I. Cirac. Classification of multiqubit mixed states: Separability and distillability properties. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 61:042314, 2000.
[DC09]	Dong-Ling Deng and Jing-Ling Chen. Sufficient and necessary condition of separability for generalized Werner states. <i>Annals</i> of <i>Physics</i> , 324:408, 2009.
[Deu85]	David Deutsch. Quantum theory, the Church-Turing Principle and the Universal Quantum Computer. <i>Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. A. Mathematical, Physical Sciences and Engineering Sciences</i> , 400:97, 1985.
[DPS02]	Andrew C. Doherty, Pablo A. Parrilo, and Federico M. Spedalieri. Distinguishing Separable and Entangled states. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 88:187904, 2002.
[DPS04]	Andrew C. Doherty, Pablo A. Parrilo, and Federico M. Spedalieri. Complete family of separability criteria. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 69:022308, 2004.
[DVB10]	Borivoje Dakić, Vlatko Vedral, and Časlav Brukner. Neces- sary and Sufficient Condition for Nonzero Quantum Discord. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 105:190502, 2010.
[DVC00]	Wolfgang Dür, Guifre Vidal, and J. Ignacio Cirac. Three qubits can be entangled in two inequivalent ways. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 62:062314, 2000.
[DWS03]	Jamil Daboul, Xiaoguang Wang, and Barry C. Sanders. Quantum gates on hybrid qudits. <i>Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General</i> , 36:2525, 2003.

[Eke91]	Artur K. Ekert. Quantum cryptography based on Bell's the- orem. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 67:661, 1991.
[EPR35]	Albert Einstein, Boris Podolsky, and Nathan Rosen. Can quantum-mechanical description of physical reality be con- sidered complete? <i>Physical Review</i> , 47:777, 1935.
[Fey82]	Richard P. Feynman. Simulating physics with computers. <i>In-</i> ternational Journal of Theoretical Physics, 21:467, 1982.
[GA12]	Davide Girolami and Gerardo Adesso. Observable Measure of Bipartite Quantum Correlations. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 108:150403, 2012.
[GAM13]	Nirman Ganguly, Satyabrata Adhikari, and A.S. Majumdar. Common entanglement witnesses and their characteristics. <i>Quantum Information Processing</i> , 12:425, 2013.
[GAMC11]	Nirman Ganguly, Satyabrata Adhikari, A.S. Majumdar, and Jyotishman Chatterjee. Entanglement Witness Operator for Quantum Teleportation. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 107:270501, 2011.
[GB02]	Leonid Gurvits and Howard Barnum. Largest separable balls around the maximally mixed bipartite quantum state. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 66:062311, 2002.
[GB13]	Manuel Gessner and Heinz-Peter Breuer. Local witness for bipartite quantum discord. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 87:042107, 2013.
[GEJ02]	J. Grondalski, D.M. Etlinger, and D.F.V. James. The fully entangled fraction as an inclusive measure of entanglement applications. <i>Physics Letters A</i> , 300:573, 2002.
$[\mathrm{GHB}^+02]$	O. Gühne, P. Hyllus, D. Bruß, A. Ekert, M. Lewenstein, C. Macchiavello, and A. Sanpera. Detection of entanglement

with few local measurements. *Physical Review A*, 66:062305, 2002.

- [GHB⁺03] O. Gühne, P. Hyllus, D. Bruß, A. Ekert, M. Lewenstein,
 C. Macchiavello, and A. Sanpera. Experimental detection of entanglement via witness operators and local measurements. *Journal of Modern Optics*, 50:1079, 2003.
- [GHH⁺14] Zhe Guan, Huan He, Yong-Jian Han, Chuan-Feng Li, Fernando Galve, and Guang-Can Guo. Entangling power of twoqubit gates on mixed states. *Physical Review A*, 89:012324, 2014.
- [GHZ89] Daniel M Greenberger, Michael A Horne, and Anton Zeilinger.Going beyond Bell's theorem. In *Bell's theorem, quantum theory and conceptions of the universe*, page 69. Springer, 1989.
- [GMTA06] Otfried Gühne, Mátyás Mechler, Géza Tóth, and Peter Adam. Entanglement criteria based on local uncertainty relations are strictly stronger than the computable cross norm criterion. *Physical Review A*, 74:010301, 2006.
- [Gro97] Lov K Grover. Quantum Mechanics Helps in Searching for a Needle in a Haystack. *Physical Review Letters*, 79:325, 1997.
- [GT09] Otfried Gühne and Géza Tóth. Entanglement detection. Physics Reports, 474:1, 2009.
- [Gur03] Leonid Gurvits. Classical deterministic complexity of Edmonds' Problem and quantum entanglement. In *Proceedings* of the thirty-fifth annual ACM symposium on Theory of computing, page 10. ACM, 2003.
- [HH99] Michał Horodecki and Paweł Horodecki. Reduction criterion of separability and limits for a class of distillation protocols. *Physical Review A*, 59:4206, 1999.

[HHH96]	Michał Horodecki, Paweł Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. Separability of mixed states: necessary and sufficient condi- tions. <i>Physics Letters A</i> , 223:1, 1996.
[HHH98]	Michał Horodecki, Paweł Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. Mixed-State Entanglement and Distillation: Is there a "Bound" Entanglement in Nature? <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 80:5239, 1998.
[HHH99a]	Michał Horodecki, Paweł Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. General teleportation channel, singlet fraction, and quasidis- tillation. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 60:1888, 1999.
[HHH99b]	Paweł Horodecki, Michał Horodecki, and Ryszard Horodecki. Bound Entanglement Can Be Activated. <i>Physical Review Let</i> - <i>ters</i> , 82:1056, 1999.
[HHHH09]	Ryszard Horodecki, Paweł Horodecki, Michał Horodecki, and Karol Horodecki. Quantum entanglement. <i>Reviews of Modern</i> <i>Physics</i> , 81:865, 2009.
[Hil07]	Roland Hildebrand. Positive partial transpose from spectra. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 76:052325, 2007.
[HMABM04]	P. Hyllus, C. Moura Alves, D. Bruß, and C. Macchiavello.Generation and detection of bound entanglement. <i>Physical Review A</i>, 70:032316, 2004.
[Hol75]	R.B Holmes. <i>Geometric functional analysis and its applica-</i> <i>tions</i> , volume 10. Springer-Verlag New York, 1975.
[Hor97]	Pawel Horodecki. Separability criterion and inseparable mixed states with positive partial transposition. <i>Physics Letters A</i> , 232:333, 1997.
[HW97]	Scott Hill and William K Wootters. Entanglement of a pair of quantum bits. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 78:5022, 1997.

[Hyl05]	P Hyllus. Witnessing entanglement in qudit systems. PhD thesis, University of Hannover, 2005.
[IH00]	Satoshi Ishizaka and Tohya Hiroshima. Maximally entangled mixed states under nonlocal unitary operations in two qubits. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 62:022310, 2000.
[Jam72]	A. Jamiołkowski. Linear transformations which preserve trace and positive semidefiniteness of operators. <i>Reports on Math-</i> <i>ematical Physics</i> , 3:275, 1972.
[JKMW01]	Daniel F. V. James, Paul G. Kwiat, William J. Munro, and Andrew G. White. Measurement of qubits. <i>Physical Review</i> A, 64:052312, 2001.
[Joh13]	Nathaniel Johnston. Separability from spectrum for qubit- qudit states. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 88:062330, 2013.
[JRY ⁺ 10]	Xian-Min Jin, Ji-Gang Ren, Bin Yang, Zhen-Huan Yi, Fei Zhou, Xiao-Fan Xu, Shao-Kai Wang, Dong Yang, Yuan-Feng Hu, Shuo Jiang, et al. Experimental free-space quantum teleportation. <i>Nature Photonics</i> , 4:376, 2010.
[KC01]	B. Kraus and J. I. Cirac. Optimal creation of entanglement using a two-qubit gate. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 63:062309, 2001.
[Kni03]	E Knill. Separability from spectrum. Published electronically at http://qig. itp. uni-hannover. de/qiproblems/15, 2003.
[KRS11]	Michael James Kastoryano, Florentin Reiter, and An- ders Søndberg Sørensen. Dissipative preparation of entangle- ment in optical cavities. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 106:090502, 2011.
[KŻ01]	Marek Kuś and Karol Życzkowski. Geometry of entangled states. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 63:032307, 2001.

[Lew04]	M Lewenstein. Quantum-information-theory wintersemester 2000/2001. Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Hannover, 2004.
[LK00]	Jinhyoung Lee and M.S. Kim. Entanglement Teleportation via Werner States. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 84:4236, 2000.
[LKCH00]	Maciej Lewenstein, B. Kraus, J.I. Cirac, and P. Horodecki. Optimization of entanglement witnesses. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 62:052310, 2000.
[LL09]	B.P. Lanyon and N.K. Langford. Experimentally generat- ing and tuning robust entanglement between photonic qubits. <i>New Journal of Physics</i> , 11:013008, 2009.
[LLTL02]	X. S. Liu, G. L. Long, D. M. Tong, and Feng Li. General scheme for superdense coding between multiparties. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 65:022304, 2002.
[MJWK01]	W. J. Munro, D. F. V. James, A. G. White, and P. G. Kwiat. Maximizing the entanglement of two mixed qubits. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 64:030302, 2001.
[MKŻ13]	Marcin Musz, Marek Kuś, and Karol Życzkowski. Unitary quantum gates, perfect entanglers, and unistochastic maps. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 87:022111, 2013.
[MP08]	Sreraman Muralidharan and Prasanta K Panigrahi. Perfect teleportation, quantum-state sharing, and superdense coding through a genuinely entangled five-qubit state. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 77:032321, 2008.
[MPM13]	S. Mal, T. Pramanik, and A.S. Majumdar. Detecting mixed- ness of qutrit systems using the uncertainty relation. <i>Physical</i> <i>Review A</i> , 87:012105, 2013.

[NC10]	Michael A. Nielsen and Isaac L. Chuang. <i>Quantum computa-</i> <i>tion and quantum information</i> . Cambridge University Press, 2010.
[NK01]	Michael A. Nielsen and J. Kempe. Separable States are More Disordered Globally than Locally. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 86:5184, 2001.
[OMM ⁺ 09]	S. Olmschenk, D.N. Matsukevich, P. Maunz, D. Hayes, L-M Duan, and C. Monroe. Quantum Teleportation Between Distant Matter Qubits. <i>Science</i> , 323:486, 2009.
[Per96]	Asher Peres. Separability Criterion for Density Matrices. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 77:1413, 1996.
[PR00]	Arthur O. Pittenger and Morton H. Rubin. Note on sepa- rability of the Werner states in arbitrary dimensions. <i>Optics</i> <i>Communications</i> , 179:447, 2000.
[PR02]	Arthur O Pittenger and Morton H. Rubin. Convexity and the separability problem of quantum mechanical density matrices. <i>Linear Algebra and its Applications</i> , 346:47, 2002.
[PV07]	M.B Plenio and S. Virmani. An introduction to entanglement measures. <i>Quantum Information and Computation</i> , 7:1, 2007.
[RBC ⁺ 01]	Pranaw Rungta, Vladimir Bužek, Carlton M Caves, Mark Hillery, and Gerard J Milburn. Universal state inversion and concurrence in arbitrary dimensions. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 64:042315, 2001.
[RNO ⁺ 00]	Arno Rauschenbeutel, Gilles Nogues, Stefano Osnaghi, Patrice Bertet, Michel Brune, Jean-Michel Raimond, and Serge Haroche. Step-by-step engineered multiparticle entan- glement. <i>Science</i> , 288:2024, 2000.
[Rud64]	Walter Rudin. <i>Principles of Mathematical Analysis</i> . McGraw- Hill New York, 1964.

[Rud00]	Oliver Rudolph. A separability criterion for density operators.Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, 33:3951,2000.
[SBL01]	Anna Sanpera, Dagmar Bruß, and Maciej Lewenstein. Schmidt-number witnesses and bound entanglement. <i>Phys-</i> <i>ical Review A</i> , 63:050301, 2001.
[Sch35]	E. Schrödinger. Present status of quantum mechanics. <i>Die</i> <i>Naturwissenschaften</i> , 23, 1935.
[Sho94]	Peter W Shor. Algorithms for quantum computation: dis- crete logarithms and factoring. In <i>Proceedings</i> , 35th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science, page 124. IEEE, 1994.
[Sim63]	George Finlay Simmons. Introduction to topology and modern analysis. McGraw-Hill New York, 1963.
[SKK+00]	C.A. Sackett, D. Kielpinski, B.E. King, C. Langer, V. Meyer, C.J. Myatt, M. Rowe, Q.A. Turchette, W.M. Itano, D.J. Wineland, et al. Experimental entanglement of four parti- cles. <i>Nature</i> , 404:256, 2000.
[SPAM+12]	D.O. Soares-Pinto, R. Auccaise, J. Maziero, A. Gavini-Viana, R.M. Serra, and L.C. Céleri. On the quantumness of corre- lations in nuclear magnetic resonance. <i>Philosophical Trans-</i> <i>actions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and</i> <i>Engineering Sciences</i> , 370:4821, 2012.
[Stø63]	Erling Størmer. Positive linear maps of operator algebras. Acta Mathematica, 110:233, 1963.
[SV09]	J. Sperling and W. Vogel. Necessary and sufficient conditions for bipartite entanglement. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 79:022318, 2009.

[SV11]	J. Sperling and W. Vogel. Determination of the Schmidt num- ber. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 83:042315, 2011.
[TBKN11]	Walter Thirring, Reinhold A Bertlmann, Philipp Köhler, and Heide Narnhofer. Entanglement or separability: the choice of how to factorize the algebra of a density matrix. <i>The European</i> <i>Physical Journal D</i> , 64:181, 2011.
[Ter00]	Barbara M. Terhal. Bell inequalities and the separability cri- terion. <i>Physics Letters A</i> , 271:319, 2000.
[Ter01]	Barbara M. Terhal. A family of indecomposable positive linear maps based on entangled quantum states. <i>Linear Algebra and its Applications</i> , 323:61, 2001.
[TH00]	Barbara M. Terhal and Paweł Horodecki. Schmidt number for density matrices. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 61:040301, 2000.
[Tur36]	Alan M. Turing. On computable numbers, with an applica- tion to the Entscheidungsproblem. <i>Proceedings of the London</i> <i>Mathematical Society</i> , 42:230, 1936.
[UJA+04]	Rupert Ursin, Thomas Jennewein, Markus Aspelmeyer, Rainer Kaltenbaek, Michael Lindenthal, Philip Walther, and Anton Zeilinger. Communications: Quantum teleportation across the Danube. <i>Nature</i> , 430:849, 2004.
[VADM01]	Frank Verstraete, Koenraad Audenaert, and Bart De Moor. Maximally entangled mixed states of two qubits. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 64:012316, 2001.
[VJN00]	Guifré Vidal, Daniel Jonathan, and M. A. Nielsen. Approx- imate transformations and robust manipulation of bipartite pure-state entanglement. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 62:012304, 2000.
[VP98]	Vlatko Vedral and Martin B Plenio. Entanglement measures and purification procedures. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 57:1619, 1998.

[VPRK97]	V. Vedral, M. B. Plenio, M. A. Rippin, and P. L. Knight.Quantifying entanglement. <i>Physical Review Letters</i>, 78:2275, 1997.
[VW02]	G. Vidal and R. F. Werner. Computable measure of entan- glement. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 65:032314, 2002.
[Wer89a]	Reinhard F. Werner. An application of Bell's inequalities to a quantum state extension problem. <i>Letters in Mathematical</i> <i>Physics</i> , 17:359, 1989.
[Wer89b]	Reinhard F. Werner. Quantum states with Einstein-Podolsky- Rosen correlations admitting a hidden-variable model. <i>Phys-</i> <i>ical Review A</i> , 40:4277, 1989.
[WG07]	Yu-Chun Wu and Guang-Can Guo. Determining the existence of the common entanglement witnesses for some entangled states. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 75:052333, 2007.
[Woo98]	William K Wootters. Entanglement of formation of an arbi- trary state of two qubits. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 80:2245, 1998.
[Wor76]	S. L. Woronowicz. Positive maps of low dimensional matrix algebras. <i>Reports on Mathematical Physics</i> , 10:165, 1976.
[YL05]	Sixia Yu and Nai-le Liu. Entanglement Detection by Local Orthogonal Observables. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 95:150504, 2005.
[ZFLJ12]	Ming-Jing Zhao, Shao-Ming Fei, and Xianqing Li-Jost. Com- plete entanglement witness for quantum teleportation. <i>Phys-</i> <i>ical Review A</i> , 85:054301, 2012.
[ZHG92]	Anton Zeilinger, Michael A. Horne, and Daniel M. Green- berger. Higher-order quantum entanglement. In <i>NASA Con-</i> <i>ference Publications</i> , volume 3135, page 51, 1992.

[ŻHSL98]	Karol Życzkowski, Paweł Horodecki, Anna Sanpera, and Maciej Lewenstein. Volume of the set of separable states. <i>Physical Review A</i> , 58:883, 1998.
[ZLFW10]	Ming-Jing Zhao, Zong-Guo Li, Shao-Ming Fei, and Zhi-Xi Wang. A note on fully entangled fraction. <i>Journal of Physics</i> <i>A: Mathematical and Theoretical</i> , 43:275203, 2010.
[ŻZHE93]	M. Żukowski, A. Zeilinger, M.A. Horne, and A.K. Ekert. "Event ready detectors" Bell experiment via entanglement swapping. <i>Physical Review Letters</i> , 71:4287, 1993.